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Letter of Transmittal

MALDIVES MONETARY AUTHORITY
Malé, Republic of Maldives

Dear Excellency,

In accordance with Article 35(2) of Maldives Monetary Authority Act (1981), I herewith
submit the Annual Report of the Maldives Monetary Authority for the year 2012 which
includes a copy of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012 audited
by the External Auditors, Ernst & Young.

Yours sincerely,

=
-

Fazeel Najeeb (PhD)

Governor and Chairman

HE Dr Mohamed Waheed Hassan Manik,
President of the Republic of Maldives,
President's Office,

Malé.
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Statement by the Governor

Presented herewith is the Annual Report
of the Maldives Monetary Authority for
the year 2012. In accordance with section
35(2) of the MMA Act 1981, this report
covers the activities and developments

of the Authority for the year 2012, and
includes the audited financial statements
for the year. In addition, it also highlights
the key macroeconomic and financial
sector developments in the country

during the year.

As was the case in the last several years,
2012 was also a challenging year for the
economy of the Maldives. The tourism
sector, which is the mainstay of the
country’s economy, performed less than
expected. Although tourist arrivals into
the country increased, thanks to a robust
growth in the Chinese market, bed-
nights in fact fell, mainly due to a decline
in tourist arrivals from Europe. At the

same time, the country’s fiscal conditions

continued to deteriorate, and the financial
sector experienced setbacks connected
with deterioration in asset quality and

a decline in private sector credit. The
government’s domestic debt escalated and

the balance of payments worsened.

The economic situation required the
government to take bold steps to
increase revenue, cut down current
expenditure, reduce debt, and increase
foreign exchange earnings. Indeed the
government took several measures

to address some of these issues.
However, these did not go far enough,
and there were significant policy and

implementation slippages.

MMA strives to maintain price stability in
the country and uses the pegged exchange
rate regime to achieve this objective.
However, the heavy fiscal dominance

in the economy and the unsustainable
spending by the government continued

to compromise the effectiveness of the

monetary policy during the year.

Like in the previous several years, MMA
remained vigilant of the developments
and performance of the financial sector in
the aftermath of the global financial crisis
and the macroeconomic imbalances in the

domestic economy.
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Effective regulation and supervision

of the financial sector remained a high
priority of the MMA. The implementation
of the Prudential Regulations introduced
in 2009/2010 and the Banking Act
enacted in December 2010 were given

special emphasis.

Providing a modern, secure and an
efficient payment system conducive to
economic growth and financial stability
in the country is an important part of
MMA’s commitment to modernizing the
country’s financial sector. To this end,

a Real Time Gross Settlement System
(RTGS) and Automated Clearing House
(ACH), which facilitate a more efficient
transfer and settlement of interbank

payments, were introduced in the year.

As part of an ongoing restructuring of the
bank to pursue its statutory objectives
more professionally and efficiently, a new
organizational structure was adopted in
early 2012. Under the new structure, the
functions of the organisation are grouped
under four main areas: (1) monetary
policy, research and statistics; (2)
financial stability; (3) banking operations;

and (4) corporate services.

Work on an Enterprise Resource Planning
project continued throughout 2012.

The project is aimed at centralising and
automating the accounting system,
systemising the maintenance of human
resources records and the procurement

process of MMA.

With the philosophy that the most
valuable assets of the organization are
its human resources, a high priority is
given to the development of skills and
enhancement of professional capacity
and productivity of the staff. To this end
a range of in-house, local and overseas
training and study programs were made
available to the staff. The MMA Training
Institute (MMA TI), established on

24 February 2010 to provide training

to MMA and financial sector as well

as to create and increase awareness

on monetary and financial matters,
conducted several training programs to
enhance the functional and professional
capacity of the staff of the MMA as well as

the financial institutions in the country.

In order to increase transparency and the
accountability of MMA, and to improve
the institution’s ability to provide
information to the public in a timely
fashion, a corporate communications
strategy was introduced in April 2012.
An important aspect of the strategy was
to increase the outreach to the younger,
as well as the increasingly technology
savvy population of the country, through
the use of social media such as YouTube,
Facebook and Twitter. Further, MMA also
started publishing a monthly economic
review in Dhivehi, to provide economic

information to a wider audience.

I express my deep appreciation and
gratitude to the Board of Directors for
their policy direction and guidance. In

addition, I extend my sincere thanks to



the dedicated staff members of MMA

for their commitment to pursuing the
statutory objectives of the bank. I am
confident that with their professionalism,
experience, and expertise — and with
effective coordination between fiscal

and monetary policies — we would be

able to overcome the current difficulties
and embark upon a more stable

macroeconomic trajectory.

Fazeel Najeeb (PhD)

Governor and Chairman
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1. Macroeconomic Review

1.1 Overview of
macroeconomic
developments in 2012

M anufaciuning
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Following a growth rate of 7 per cent

in the preceding two years, real GDP
growth slowed down to 3.4 per cent
during 2012. This was largely due to the
substantial slowdown in the tourism
sector, reflecting the weak economic
conditions in Europe, which is the main
tourism market of the Maldives. Despite
the sluggish performance of the tourism
sector, the construction, fishing and the
manufacturing sectors stood buoyant
and thus contributed positively to GDP
growth.

The tourism sector, which directly
accounts for roughly one-third of GDP,
grew by a mere 0.7 per cent during
2012 as opposed to the initial estimate

of 7.5 per cent. This marked slowdown

was driven by depressed tourist arrivals
from Europe owing to weak economic
conditions in the main European source
markets, although it was partly offset

by robust growth in Chinese tourists.
The travel advisories issued by various
governments against travelling to the
Maldives following the political unrest in
the country earlier during the year also
had an impact on the tourist arrivals into
the country during the period. According
to tourism statistics, total tourist arrivals
grew by a modest 3 per cent in 2012
compared to a growth of 18 per cent in
the previous year. Despite the growth

in tourist arrivals, tourist bed nights
registered a decline during 2012 owing to
the decline in average stay, which lowered
the average room occupancy to 70 per

cent from 73 per cent in 2011.

GDP growth rate by
selected sectors,
2003-2012

Source: DNP
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Tourist arrrivals and Looking at other major production As for the construction output, after
growth, 2003-2012 sectors of the economy, after declining suffering a severe downturn in 2009
Source: MoTAC for five consecutive years, primary fishing following the global financial crisis, the
activities registered a turnaround and construction sector appears to have
expanded by 9.7 per cent in 2012. The recovered well expanding by 19 per cent
improvement in fishing activities also in 2011 and a further 16 per cent during
provided a boost to fish exports and 2012. The robust growth of construction
fisheries related manufacturing activities. sector continues to be largely driven by
p N buoyancy in construction of new resorts
i and public sector infrastructure projects.
B0% |
o Regarding the price situation, after
2% remaining elevated in the first half of
o ' 2012, the rate of inflation, as measured
] by the annual percentage change in the
0%
consumer price index (CPI) for Male’, fell
60 |
O T - - A to 5.4 per cent at the end year. The fall in
ConomoRmeme e inflation reflects the waning of the one-
--------- Export wolume growth {left scale)
L — Export eamings growth {right scale) ) off impact of devaluation of the rufiyaa
in April 2011 and the introduction of
Fish export volume During the year, fish exports grew by general goods and services tax (G-GST)
and earning, 6 per cent while fish export earnings in October 2011 and the subsequent rate
2003-2012 recorded a much higher growth of 29 per increase in January 2012. Meanwhile,
Source: MCS cent supported by high tuna prices in the external sources of inflation remained
global market. Meanwhile, manufacturing muted during the year reflecting subdued
output further strengthened in 2012 growth in global commodity prices.

and grew by 17.5 per cent driven by

increased fish processing activities.
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5 per cent in 2012 from double digit
growths in the past several years. The On the fiscal front, according to the BoP and Gross
growth in broad money during the year revised budget estimates of November International
was mainly contributed by the rise 2012 the fiscal deficit widened to 13 Reserves,
in net foreign assets of the banking per cent of GDP in 2012 from 8 per 2007 - 2012 (in
system, brought about by the on-going cent of GDP in 2011. This was mainly millions of US dollars)

accumulation of foreign assets by the
commercial banks whilst repaying their
overseas borrowings. On the other hand,
the net domestic assets of the banking
system recorded a decline during the year
owing to the reduced credit to private
sector which reflects the slow economic
growth and deterioration in asset quality

of the domestic banking system.

due to a larger increase in government
expenditure (including net lending)
concurrent with a small decline in
government revenue (including grants).
Despite the less than 1 per cent decline
in total government revenue, tax
revenues rose significantly during the
year. This was due to favourable receipts
from goods and services tax on tourism

(T-GST), business profit tax (BPT) and

Source: MCS, MMA
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cent of GDP)

Source: MMA

general goods and services tax (G-GST)
stemming from the increase in T-GST

and G-GST rates in January 2012 and

the full implementation of the BPT later
in the year. On the spending side, total
government expenditure (including

net lending) rose by 15 per cent owing

to a sizable increase in social welfare
contributions associated with spending
on Aasandha, the medical insurance
scheme initiated by the government, in
January 2012. With the increase in fiscal
deficit, total public debt has risen from 74
per cent of GDP in 2011 to 79 per cent of
GDP in 2012 amounting to MVR 27,122.9
million. Almost half of the public debt is
borrowed from domestic sources, mainly

through the issuance of T-Bills.

As for developments in the external
sector, the current account deficit
worsened to 27 per cent of GDP in

2012 from 21 per cent of GDP in 2011
due to the widening of the trade deficit
coupled with a smaller decline in the
services account surplus and the transfers
account deficit. The worsening of trade
deficit reflects the substantial increase in

imports although exports also rose during

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012

the year. Meanwhile, with the improved
global financial conditions, foreign direct
investment inflows improved during the
year which increased the net financial
inflows. However, gross international
reserves continued to be on a downward
trend, despite some temporary increases,
and fell to US$ 304.6 million at the end of
2012.

With regard to the exchange rate, the
Maldivian rufiyaa remains pegged to

the US dollar between a band of 20 per
cent on either side of a central parity of
MVR 12.85 per US dollar (i.e. between
MVR10.28 and MVR15.4). Since the
adoption of the exchange rate band in
11 April 2011, the rufiyaa has moved to
the upper end of this band due to the
persisting foreign exchange pressures

in the economy. As such, at the end of
2012 the MMA reference rate stood at
MVR 15.37 per US dollar. With regard to
the bilateral exchange rates, the rufiyaa
depreciated against the Singapore dollar,
the Sterling pound and the euro at the
end of 2012, reflecting the weakening of
the U.S dollar against these currencies.
However, the rufiyaa appreciated against
the Japanese yen, the Sri Lankan rupee

and the Indian rupee.
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1.2 Outlook for 2013

Real GDP growth is projected to improve
in 2013 after slowing down in 2012.
According to projections made in
November 2012 by the Department of
National Planning, growth is expected to
increase slightly from 3.4 per cent in 2012
to 4.3 per cent in 2013. The impetus for
growth is expected to come from a more
favourable outlook for the tourism sector,
which is based on two main assumptions.
One is that there will be more aggressive
tourism marketing this year, which will
attract more tourists to the country.

The second assumption is that external
conditions will improve; more specifically,
the macroeconomic situation in the

main European markets will recover in
2013. However, downside risks to growth
have increased since the projections

were made, and there is now renewed
uncertainty about the euro-zone crisis,
which has clouded the growth prospects
for Europe. According to the forecast
released by the IMF in January this year,
euro area output is now projected to
contract by 0.3 per cent in 2013, instead
of the 0.5 per cent growth projected in

October last year.

The outlook for inflation is moderate
compared to that of 2012. A number

of one-off factors, such as the rufiyaa
devaluation and the introduction of the
G-GST, kept the headline inflation at
elevated levels for most of last year. As
price pressures from these factors wane,

and since global commodity prices are

projected to grow only moderately during
2013, the rate of inflation is expected to
remain at around 6 per cent in 2013, or
close to the level achieved at the end of
last year. However, there are also upside
risks to inflation emanating from global
factors. The political situation in the
Middle East is still very fluid and could
escalate quickly, potentially triggering
sharp increases in oil prices in the global
market. Further, while global commodity
prices are expected to be moderate,
unpredictable weather patterns could
lead to soaring prices, given that global
food commodity stocks are already at low

levels.

Fiscal consolidation and reducing
external imbalances continues to be
the biggest macroeconomic challenge
faced by the Maldivian economy. The
2013 budget passed by the Majlis
envisages an ambitious reduction in
the fiscal deficit to 3.6 per cent of GDP
in 2013 from 12.6 per cent in 2012,

to be achieved through both revenue
increases and expenditure reductions.
Most of the increase in revenue is to be
achieved from the implementation of
new revenue measures, equivalent to 5
per cent of GDP. A number of savings
are also planned from the expenditure
side through improved targeting of
subsidies and welfare contributions.
This is expected to generate savings
amounting to 4 per cent of GDP. However,
unless appropriate policy measures are
taken early in the year, these savings

may not materialise. The financing of



the fiscal deficit is planned mostly from
the issuance of T-bills domestically.
However, the uncertainty surrounding
the expenditure cuts means that financing
pressures are likely to emerge towards

the end of the year. Public debt, which

has already reached over 70 per cent

of GDP, is expected to remain high in
2013, increasing concerns over the

sustainability of debt.

The CAD is expected to remain high in
2013 as well. Despite buoyant receipts
from the tourism sector, CAD is expected
to remain at 28 per cent of GDP, same
asin 2012, reflecting the growing trade
deficit. The latter is due to the strong
import demand fuelled by both the
growth in tourism as well as the large
increase in government expenditure.
During 2013, the CAD is expected to

be financed both from FDI inflows and
external borrowings. The high CAD

and recent repayments of debt has put
pressure on gross international reserves
which is expected to fall to 1.3 months of
imports or US$ 291.4 million at the end
of 2013.

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012
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2. Monetary policy

2.1 Monetary Policy

framework

The monetary policy is aimed at achieving
price stability and maintaining an
adequate level of external reserves using
the exchange rate peg with the US dollar
as an intermediate target. In order to
control the money supply, MMA targets
monetary base as the operating target.
Hence, MMA continued its monetary
operation in order to achieve its targets
on the reserve money using the monetary
policy tools. The main monetary policy
instruments currently in use are the
Minimum Reserve Requirement (MRR),
Open Market Operations (OMO), and
MMA standing facilities, which consist

of the Overnight Deposit Facility (ODF),
and the Overnight Lombard Facility
(OLF). The rates and conditions on these
instruments remained unchanged during
the year. The foreign exchange swap
facility was re-introduced in the middle of
2012 with some modifications to its terms
and conditions. The facility was available
to all the commercial banks, but none of

the banks utilised it during the year.

The MRR remained unchanged since the
lowering of the rate to 25 per centin 1
June 2006. The reserve requirement for
local currency has to be met in the form
of rufiyaa deposits, while for foreign

currency, US dollar deposits are required.

11

However, since 19 May 2011, banks are
required to maintain 3 per cent out of 25
per cent of the foreign currency MRR in
rufiyaa deposits in order to relieve the

dollar shortage in the market.

An indicative monetary policy rate at 7
per cent per annum was introduced on 29
May 2011 to signal the tight monetary
policy stance to the market. This policy
rate is currently within the interest rate
corridor of 0.25 per cent per annum of
ODF and 16 per cent per annum of OLE.
With the introduction of the indicative
rate, the weighted average interest rate
of Reverse Repo started increasing and
reached 7 per cent by the end of first
quarter 2012.

As per MMA Act, the Board of Directors
of the MMA is the highest decision
making body of the Authority and is
responsible for taking key decisions on
all matters relating to monetary policy.
The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC)
recommends necessary policy changes to

the MMA board for approval.

2.2 Monetary developments

As for the monetary developments during
the year, reserve money (MO) and broad
money (M2) both registered annual
increases at the end of 2012, although

at a slower pace compared to 2011. The



expansion in MO can be attributed to the
growth in the NDA of the MMA, while the
annual growth in M2 was largely driven
by the improvements in the net foreign

assets (NFA) of the commercial banks.

The MMA continued its monetary
operations by conducting its weekly
OMOs and ODF to clear excess liquidity
in the banking system. During 2012,

the average investment in reverse

repos (liquidity absorption) increased
substantially, whereas investment in ODF
dropped significantly, leading to an overall
drop in the average amount of liquidity

absorbed via monetary operations.

The NFA of the banking system showed

a marked increase in 2012, due to

the improvements in the NFA of the
commercial banks. The net liability
position of the commercial banks evolved
to a net asset position in December 2012
for the first time since July 2005. This was
predominantly due to the accumulation
of foreign assets and a decrease in foreign
liabilities by repaying a sizable portion of
the banks’ outstanding borrowings from
abroad. However, the expansion in the
NFA of the banking system was partially
offset by the decline in the NFA of the
MMA.

A further analysis of the components

of MO showed annual increments in

both commercial banks’ deposits and
currency in circulation at the end of 2012,
although at a slower pace relative to

2011. The total money supply measured

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012

by M2 expanded at a lower rate in 2012
than in 2011. The annual growth rate in
M2 was 5Sper cent in 2012 compared to
20per cent in the previous year. Further,
the substantial rise in M2 at the end of
2011 partly reflected the depreciation
impact following the introduction of the
exchange rate band for rufiyaa in April
2011. However, the effects of depreciation
dissipated during 2012, leading to a
comparatively lower growth rate for M2 in

2012 when compared to that of 2011.

The slowdown in the growth rate of M2
during 2012 can be attributed to the
sluggish growth in quasi money and
narrow money, particularly during the last
half of 2012. Accordingly, quasi money,
which accounts for nearly 58per cent of
M2, expanded on average by 10per cent
in 2012 compared to the robust growth
of 41per cent in 2011. This was a result
of a deceleration in foreign currency
deposits (which constitute 85 per cent

of quasi money), partly due to the mild
performance in the tourism sector during
the year, coupled with the effects of the
rufiyaa devaluation in the previous year,
as mentioned above. Additionally, the
average growth in narrow money dropped
to 3per cent in 2012 from 12per cent for
the previous year. This mild expansion in
narrow money was brought about by the
increase in currency outside depository
corporations and the rufiyaa transferable
deposits. The moderate growth in narrow
money in 2012 largely reflects the
slowdown in domestic economic activities

during the year.

12
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As regards the private sector credit
developments, loans and advances to the
sector declined by 7 per cent on average
during the year, as opposed to the 7per
cent growth in 2011. This negative
growth in private sector credit reflects
slow economic growth and the increase

in the number of non-performing loans
(NPLs) of banks. The commercial banks
were seen to invest in less risky assets
such as government T-bills and securities
issued by the MMA. As for the sector-wise
distribution of loans to the private sector,
the tourism sector continues to hold the
largest share of total outstanding private
sector loans at 58 per cent. However,
loans to the tourism sector declined by
8per cent during 2012 after recording a
growth of 5 per cent in the previous year,
although the latter figure partly reflected
the rufiyaa devaluation in 2011. Loans to
the fisheries sector recorded a significant
decline of 29 per cent, while loans to the
transport sector declined by 22 per cent.
However, loans extended to the commerce
and construction sectors grew marginally,

by 1 per cent and 2 per cent, respectively.

The MMA indicative policy rate remained
unchanged at 7 per cent throughout
2012. Meanwhile, the weighted average
interest rate (WAIR) on reverse repo
reached 7per cent at the end of the first
quarter of 2012. However T-bill rates
showed significant increases during 2012,
with T-bill rates for the three maturity
periods, 28 days, 91 days and 182 days,
increasing by 90 bps, 94 bps and 88 bps,
respectively. During August 2012, T-bills

13

for a new maturity period of 364 days
were introduced, with their initial rate at
7.34 per cent, increasing to 7.86 per cent
by the end of 2012. This increase in T-bill
rates can be attributed to the increasing
government financing requirements to

support the widening budget deficit.

The WAIR on loans to the private sector
showed increases in both local and foreign
currency loans during 2012. The interest
rates on loans extended to the private
sector denominated in national currency
rose by 34 bps to 10.51 per cent, while
private sector loans denominated in
foreign currency increased by 26 bps to

8.68 per cent.

With regard to interest rates on
deposits, the annual WAIR for both
national currency and foreign currency
denominated savings deposits remained
unchanged at 2.25 per cent and 2.22
per cent, respectively, during 2012.
Meanwhile, rates on time deposits (with
a maturity of two to three years) declined
for both national and foreign currency
deposits, by 30 bps to 3.80 per cent and
51 bps to 4.49 per cent, respectively.
Rates for national currency transferable
deposits edged up slightly to 2.24 per
cent while rates for foreign currency
denominated deposits fell by 15 bps to
1.59 per cent at the end of the year.



Bimonthly meeting
are held with bankers
to discuss the issues

in their industry
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3. Financial Stability

3.1 Framework for Financial

Stability

Maintaining financial stability is one of
the core objectives of the MMA. Although
there is no easy or uniform definition

of financial stability, it can be viewed as

a condition where the financial system
has the capability to efficiently allocate
funds, and withstand shocks that could
disrupt the functioning of the financial
system and economic growth. Financial
stability is important in order to maintain
trust in the financial system, which helps
to prevent destabilising incidents such

as bank runs. In order to ensure and
sustain financial stability of the Maldives
financial system, MMA regulates and
supervises the banks and non-bank
financial institutions. This is necessary

to identify the possible sources of risk,
areas of vulnerability and take necessary

measures to safeguard the health and

efficient functioning of these institutions.

The financial system consists of financial
institutions; financial markets and
financial infrastructure payment and
securities settlement systems; and credit
information registries. In the Maldives,
the main players in the financial system
are the commercial banks, of which three
are locally incorporated, and four are
branches of foreign banks. Non-bank
financial institutions include a finance
leasing company, a housing finance
company, and seven money remittance
companies. The insurance industry
consists of three insurance companies and
one branch office of a foreign company,
five brokers and seven agents. The

MMA is responsible for regulating and
supervising these institutions. The MMA
also houses the payment system and the
credit information bureau. The other
important component in the financial
system, the securities market, is regulated
by the Capital Market Development
Authority (CMDA).

The banking sector is governed by the
provisions of the Banking Act (2010) and
eleven prudential regulations formulated
under this Act. The main objectives of
the Banking Act and the regulations are
to set out banking policies and to ensure

that the banking system operates in

14
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accordance with such policies in order to

achieve the following:

+  Maintain stability and public
confidence in the system

+  Protect depositors’ and creditors’
rights’

+  Manage systemic risk

+  Prevent financial crime

+  Foster competition in the Maldivian
banking system and to ensure that
the system is response to the public’s
needs for banking services and able to
contribute to the country’s economic

growth.

To facilitate the specific regulation needs
of Islamic banking, the ‘Islamic Banking
Regulation’ of 2011 sets out specific
requirements governing the licensing,
financial, prudential and supervisory
matters relating to Islamic banking

business in the Maldives.

The ‘Insurance Industry Regulation’
assigns supervisory responsibility for the
regulating and supervising the sector to
the MMA. In addition to the Regulation,
there are various guidelines for insurance

undertakings, agents and brokers.

The ‘Regulations for Finance Leasing
Companies and Finance Leasing
Transaction’ provides for the licensing
and regulation of companies engaged in
finance leasing in the Maldives and sets
out the rights and duties of parties to
finance lease agreements and matters

connected therewith or incidental thereto.
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A guideline on consumer protection
regarding electronic fund transfer
establishes rights, liabilities and
responsibilities of customers and financial
initiations relating to electronic fund

transfers.

The Maldives Credit Information Bureau
is governed by a ‘Credit Information
Regulation’ (2010), while the members
are expected to sign and abide by a code
of conduct and membership agreement.
In addition to the seven banks, two non-
bank financial institutions are already

its members. It is planned that in future,
members would include telecoms, utilities
and insurance companies as well as

other smaller non-financial institutions
that offer goods and services on credit

to consumers. The credit information
registry will pave the way for more
confident and informed credit decision
making, which would contribute towards
stronger financial institutions and hence,

stability of the financial system.

Payment systems are a major constituent
of the financial infrastructure of a
country. The efficient functioning of the
payment systems enable transactions

to be completed fast and efficiently,

thus contributing to overall economic
performance. Any failure of the systems
could lead to systemic crisis and transmit
financial shocks to the financial system as

a whole.

In the Maldives, the Real Time Gross
Settlement (RTGS) system and ACH,



implemented under the MIPS project
enable the efficient transfer and
settlement of interbank payments.

RTGS system settles large value and
urgent interbank transactions in real
time on gross basis, thus reducing risk in
payment systems and allowing banks to
manage their liquidity effectively. RTGS
system commenced its live operations on

10 April 2011.

ACH is a session based clearing system
for cheques, direct debits and direct
credits. This system clears low value high
volume of transactions sent in batches
and submits it for settlement in RTGS
system. MMA took a phased approach

in implementing ACH, by introducing
direct credits first and then cheque
truncation followed by direct debits. The
direct credits component of ACH was
implemented on 02 February 2012. MMA
is now in the process of implementing
cheque truncation and direct debits. The
RTGS system and ACH are operated under
the Payment System Regulation adopted
under the Banking Act. Payment Systems
Law has been drafted and is currently

under review.

As per the provisions of Maldives Banking
Act and the Financial Transaction
Reporting (FTR) Regulation issued

under the Maldives Banking Act, banks
and financial institutions regulated and
supervised by the MMA are required to
report suspicious transactions and cash
transactions above a certain threshold

to the Financial Intelligence Unit (FIU).

Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012

The FIU conducts on-site and off-site
inspection of financial institutions to
observe the level of compliance to the FTR
Regulation. The FIU also gives trainings to
the financial institutions on anti-money
laundering and combating the financing
of terrorism (AML and CFT) issues and
on compliance to the FTR Regulation.

In addition to receiving, analysing and
dissemination of transaction reports,

the FIU checks the financial institutions’
compliance to the Maldives Financial
Transaction Reporting Regulation. On
behalf of MMA, the FIU is leading the
country’s effort to establish an effective
AML and CFT framework which involves
coordinating with other key authorities
(including investigative, law enforcement
authorities as well as relevant government
ministries and departments, other
regulatory and supervisory authorities).
As such in close collaboration with these
relevant authorities, ministries and
department, a coordination committee
for AML and CFT has been established.
This committee is be led by the FIU.

3.2 Financial Sector
Developments

Banking Industry

The main area of concern is credit risk as
indicated by the high level of poor quality
loans, while this risk is mitigated to a
large extent by a correspondingly high
level of loan loss provisions. The total
assets of the banking industry, which

had been on an increasing trend over
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the past couple of years, declined by 1

per cent at the end of 2012, mainly due

to the decline in both net loans (gross
loans net of provisions) and investment
in government securities. The increase in
loan loss provisioning and the writing-

off of the major non-performing loans
(NPLs), coupled with the stagnant lending
activities of the banks due to high NPLs,
led to a decline in net loans during the

year.

The NPL ratio stood at more or less the
same level throughout 2012, at 21 per
cent, while NPL ratio was 19 per cent

in 2011. The writing-off of large NPLs
and the loan recovery efforts of banks
caused the growth rate of NPLs to
decline during the year. Improvements

in credit standards for new loans and the
strengthening of credit underwriting and
administration also contributed to the

reduction in NPLs.

The banking sector’s net income before
tax was MVR 952.3 million in 2012,
which was almost the same as for the
previous year. In contrast, the net income
after tax declined by 3 per cent during the
year, compared to a growth of 33 per cent
a year ago, with the increase in taxation,.
The overall decline in profitability owed
to the increase in specific provisioning
due to weak performance of some assets,
coupled with a decline in the lending

activities of the banks.

In 2012, the capital strength of the sector
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appeared adequate and improved over the
year. At the end of the year, the capital of
the sector showed an increase of 17 per
cent as compared to a 3 per cent growth in
2011. This increase in capital significantly
improved the industry’s capacity to
absorb risk. Further, the risk-based capital
ratios of the banking industry remained
well above the required minimum levels

throughout the year.
Insurance Industry

Insurance penetration is the share of
domestic premium value as a percentage
of GDP, and insurance density shows per
capita spending on insurance premiums.
Insurance penetration in the Maldives
was 1 per cent in 2012, while insurance
density was around MVR 931.4. The high
growth of Gross Written Premium (GWP)
in recent years indicates that the public
is becoming more aware of the insurance
industry and insurance policies available
locally. GWP grew from MVR 324 million
in 2011 to MVR 391.3 million in 2012.
This reflects a growth of 21 per cent. The
compulsory motor insurance scheme
introduced by the Ministry of Transport

played a significant role in this increase.

The retention ratio is the portion of risk
that is retained by the local insurance
companies after considering reinsurance.
The retention ratio remained slightly
higher than the trend in 2010 and

2011, mainly due to the introduction

of corporate health policies. However,



in 2012, with the introduction of the
national healthcare scheme by the
government the number of health
policies issued during the year declined
significantly, in turn diminishing the
retention ratio by 15 percentage points.
In 2011 and 2012, net claim payments
totalled MVR 132 million and MVR 99
million respectively. This is a decline

of 25 per cent compared to the relative
figure of 2011. Meanwhile, claims paid
as a percentage of gross premiums stood
at 25 per cent in 2012, compared to 41
per cent in 2011. The increase in GWP
in conjunction with the decline in claims
paid meant that the insurance industry
experienced a promising year in terms
of profit. In addition, income generated
from administering third party schemes
also contributed to the increase in profits
in 2012. Hence, the profitability of the
industry more than doubled from MVR
32 million in 2011 to MVR 84 million in
2012. This is an increase of more than
150 per cent suggesting. It is important
to highlight that the profit figure of 2012
does include the income generated from

administering third-party schemes.

Non-Bank Financial Services

Industries

Finance Companies: The total assets of
the finance companies continued to grow
and further increased by 3 per cent at the
end of December 2012. The rise in total
assets was mainly due to the increase in
loans and advances (90 per cent of total

assets) of the companies. As such, the
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loans and advances increased by 13 per
cent, while provisioning declined by 3 per

cent during the year.

Money Remittance Companies: Due

to the large expatriate workforce in

the country, the economy’s outward
remittances are relatively high, while
inward remittances are considerably low.
Outward remittances totalled US$ 88.4
million, while inward remittances totalled

US$ 2.9 million during 2012.

18
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4. Overview of the

Maldives Monetary Authority

The Maldives Monetary Authority is
the central bank of the Maldives. It
was established on 1 July 1981, under
the MMA Act, with the following key

objectives:

+  Toissue currency, and to determine
the international value of the

Maldivian Rufiyaa;

+  To advise the government on

banking and monetary matters;

+  To supervise and regulate banking to
promote a sound financial system;

and
+  To promote the stability of the

Maldivian currency and do facilitate

sustainable economic growth.
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The new building

Until 2007, the Minister of Finance of the MMA
and Treasury also held the position opened in January
of ex-officio Governor of the MMA. 2009

As modern central banking requires
autonomy in central bank activities, an
amendment was made to the MMA Act.
This amendment, which was ratified on 5
April 2007, granted the MMA with policy
autonomy from the Government, and
provided for the first time an independent

governor for the MMA.



The Shariah Council
oversees the
establishment of

Islamic finance in

Maldives

4.1 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the highest
policymaking body of the MMA. The
Board approves key policies concerning
monetary policy, corporate policies, and
sets strategic direction to the organisation
in maintaining price stability in the
country. The Governor and Deputy
Governor of the MMA are appointed by
the President with the consent of the
People’s Majlis. The rest of the directors
are appointed by the President with the

recommendation of the Governor.

4.2 Shari’ah Council

Shari’ah Council is responsible for
establishing a framework that will
harmonise Shari’ah interpretations
in accordance with Islamic law,

and strengthen the regulatory and
supervisory oversight of the Islamic

banking and finance industry. Accordingly
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the Shari’ah Council is also responsible for
validating all Islamic banking and finance
operations to ensure their compatibility
with the Shari’ah principles. During 2012,
the Shari’ah Council deliberated on issues
the Shari’ah compatibility of certain
Takaful operations; newly proposed
product structures; and a proposal to
establish an Islamic window. Discussions
were also held on the possibility of
introducing instruments that can be used
to facilitate proper liquidity management

of Islamic financial institutions.

4.3 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a subcommittee
of the Board of Directors and comprises
of 3 non-executive members. The
purpose of the Committee is to assist the
Board in monitoring and assessing the

effectiveness of:

«  The integrity of the financial
statements of the MMA;

«  The MMA’s external auditor’s
qualifications and independence;

«  The performance of the MMA’s
internal audit function and external
auditors;

« Internal controls over financial
reporting; and

+  The compliance by the MMA with

legal and regulatory requirements.

4.4 Internal Audit

Internal Audit assists the Management

and various committee members of
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the MMA to meet their objectives and

to discharge their responsibilities by
providing an independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the controls
set up by the management to assist the
operations at MMA. The controls subject

to evaluation encompass the following:

+  Compliance with laws, regulations,
MMA directives and controls;

+  The effectiveness of operations;

+  The reliability and integrity
of financial and operational
information;

+  Safeguarding of assets; and

+  The information systems

environment.

4.5 Organisational Structure

and Key Functions

A new organisational structure was
adopted in 2012 to reflect the changing
needs and work of the organisation, and
to transform and modernize the activities
of the Authority. The functions of the
Authority are grouped under four main
areas: (1) Monetary Policy, Research

and Statistics; (2) Financial Stability; (3)
Banking Operations; and (4) Corporate
Services. The structure also includes the
Governor’s Office; seven special units;
an Audit Committee; and the Sharia’ah
Council. The current organisation
structure of the MMA is shown in Figure
1. (centrefold) and the key functions of
the MMA are described below.
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Area 1: Monetary Policy and
Research & Statistics

This area includes Monetary Policy and

Research Division and Statistics Division.

The Monetary Policy and Research
Division (MPRD) comprises of

three sections: the Monetary Policy
Section, Modelling and Forecasting
Section and the Economic Research

and Analysis Section. The Division

is mainly responsible for providing
technical advice on the formulations and
orientation of monetary policy to the
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC), and
periodically reviewing monetary policy
instruments and monetary developments,
proposing changes to the monetary
policy framework. The Division is also
responsible for conducting economic
research, and publication of economic
reports. Their work also includes
conducting research on monetary and
financial sector issues and prepare
monetary and liquidity projections to
conduct monetary policy and also make
short-term macroeconomic projections.
They also conduct quarterly business
surveys to obtain a set of current and
forward looking indicators that assist in
monetary policy decision making along
with business fora, to strengthen the
relationship between business community
and MMA. They also conduct awareness
programmes on the financial sector and
the macroeconomy among the public,

banks and other stakeholders.



The is functionally
divided into 3 sections, namely: Monetary
and Financial Statistics Section, Balance
of Payments Section and Statistical
Information Systems Section. These
sections compile the monetary and
financial statistics, and the Balance of
Payments statistics as per the guidelines
provided by the International Monetary
Fund (IMF) and works on improving the
coverage of statistics in these areas as
well as data collection and conducting
surveys. The division is also responsible
for the administration and development
of the statistical database. In addition, the
Statistics Division also disseminate timely
statistics to Government, policy makers,
and other users in line with the best

statistical practices and standards.

This area includes Banking Supervision
Division, Non-Bank Financial Institution
Supervision Division and Insurance

Division.

The Banking Supervision Division (BSD)
consists of the Banking Supervision
Section (BSS) and Bank Licensing and
Regulation Section (BLRS). These sections
monitor activities of banks to ensure
their compliance to the Maldives Banking
Act 24/2010, rules and regulations set

by MMA and to assess the financial
health and performance of banks, in
order to ensure stability of the financial

system and to instil confidence in the
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system within the public. They are also
responsible for licensing new banks and
issuing permits to banks to engage in
other activities under the provisions

of the Banking Act. They also issue
regulations and guidelines for banks,

in order to strength the regulatory

framework.

The Non-Bank Financial Institutions
Supervision Division is divided into
Licensing, Regulation and Development
Section and Non-Bank Supervision
Section. They are responsible for
licensing, regulating and supervising

all financial institutions (except banks
and insurance companies) and finance
companies that fall under the purview of
MMA'’s supervisory jurisdiction, to ensure
their smooth functioning. The main
types of Non-Bank Financial Institutions
that are supervised by MMA are: finance
companies, money transfer companies

and credit card operators.

The Insurance Division comprises of
Insurance Supervision Section, Insurance
Inspection Section and Insurance Policy,
Regulation and Development Section.
These sections analyse and evaluate the
financial strength of currently operating
insurance companies, along with the
licensing and drafting regulations. They
also conduct onsite examinations of

insurance companies and intermediaries.
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Area 3: Banking Operations

This area includes Banking and Payments
Division and Reserve Management and

Market Operations Division.

The Banking and Payment Division
consist of the Payment and Settlement
Systems Section, Currency and
Numismatic Section and Banking
Operations Section. Responsibilities

of these sections include maintaining

the government accounts and settling
the accounts of the commercial banks
and conducting and managing the
clearing house for the commercial banks
operating in the Maldives, printing and
minting of banknotes and coins, issuing
commemorative coins, maintaining the
inventory of banknotes and coins, issuing
new banknotes and coins into circulation
and the sale of currency to numismatic
collectors. In addition, they ensure safety,
soundness and efficiency of the payment
systems by administering the operation
of the daily business cycle of the Maldives
Real Time Gross Settlement System
(RTGS) and ACH, managing any backup
and/or fall back situations that may arise,
and managing participants and users of

systems.

The Reserve Management and Market
Operations Division ensure that the
financial system is developed efficiently
through a well-functioning money
market and foreign exchange market.
This Division is divided into three

sections; Reserve Management Section,
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Market Analysis Section and Market

Operations Section. They are responsible
for handling the day-to-day management
of MMA's reserves and ensure that the
transactions are certified, approved,
recorded and settled according to the set
policies and benchmarks. In addition,
the section forecasts autonomous factors
affecting reserves and undertake market
studies to monitor the activities in the
market, whilst monitoring and analysing
international developments namely

the exchange rates, interest rates and
commodity prices in the international
market. This Division is responsible to
inject and mop up excess liquidity in the

banking sector to support the monetary

policy, by controlling the expansion in the

monetary aggregates and supporting the
exchange rate peg and creating a genuine
money market, as well as increasing the

role of the interest rate.

Banking Services

at MMA provide a
range of services to
financial institutions

and the general public



Area 4: Corporate Services

This area includes Financial Controls
Division, Human Resource Division,
Technology Services Division and General

Services Division.

Financial Controls Division comprises

of three sections; Financial and
Management Reporting Section,
Corporate Accounts Section and Foreign
Accounts Section. They ensure that all
financial transactions are recorded in
compliance with international accounting
standards and other relevant policies

and procedures and prepare financial
reports accurately and accordingly with
the International Financial Reporting
Standards and other relevant regulations.
They also work on preparation of other
management information reports to
assist the management in making their
policy decisions. This Division makes
budgetary payments in according to the
MMA Act. Furthermore, the Fixed Asset
Registry of MMA is also maintained by
this Division, in addition to the accounts
the general incomes received to the
Authority. The Division also records and
processes all foreign currency transactions

and payments through the SWIFT system.

Human Resource Division comprises

of three sections, Human Resource
Development Section, Human Resource
Services Section and MMA training
Institute and Library. The main objective
of the Human Resource Division is

to recruit and retain a healthy and
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motivated pool of staff with the skills and
professionalism needed to support the
current and future requirements of the
MMA. This Division also develops and
implements a holistic staff development
and training policy, whilst addressing

the training needs for MMA and to the

financial industry.

The Technology Services Division (TSD)
is responsible for the IT needs of the
Authority. The Division provides support
services and deals with the delivery

of IT services in the organisation. The
section is also responsible to protect the
Authority’s information assets and also
planning, monitoring and maintenance
of the IT infrastructure development and
planning the direction, development and
deployment of technology solutions and

applications in MMA.

The General Services Division
accomplishes the functions of
administration, procurement services
for its operations, maintenance and
management of building and property
to ensure continuity in provision of
support service for the business needs
of the organisation without disruptions
to its operations. The Division also
provides security services to safeguard
the organisation’s assets to create a safe

working environment.

Governor’s Office

The Governor’s Office undertakes the

functions of the Secretariat to the
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Board and Governor; Media Relations
and Public Affairs; International and
Foreign Relations and management of
on-going projects. Governor’s Office is
responsible for Governor and Deputy
Governor’s meetings and appointments,
and also undertakes the secretarial
functions of the MMA Board. In addition,
all international relations with respect
to international financial institutions,
central banking institutions and foreign
central banks are also carried out by the
Governor’s Office. Given the importance
of information sharing and transparency
of the work of the MMA, the Media
Relations and Public Affairs Section
functioned under the Governor’s Office,
to streamline communications and
publicity of the organisation. Work at
this section include: advertising MMA’s
publications; publishing news about
MMA’s meetings and events; running
awareness programmes for the general
public and specific groups; and handling
all media communications of the

Governor and Deputy Governor.

acts
as the national centre designated for
receiving, analysing and disseminating
information related to suspected money
laundering and financing of terrorism. It
is the intention of the FIU to establish a
financial environment free from money
laundering, financing of terrorism
activities and major financial crimes and

frauds, in the country.
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Financial Consumer Unit receives and
handles complaints from the customers of
the financial institutions in the Maldives.
The Unit also provides consumer
education and information about financial
services, responds to queries from the
public on financial services and products
in general, reviews and researches the
products and services offered by the
financial institutions and assists the
Authority in identifying such issues that

require immediate attention.

is responsible for
securitising, monitoring and managing
domestic government debt under “Agency
Agreement for Cash and Domestic Debt
Management”. Hence MMA acts as the
agent of the government in handling

domestic debt.

is responsible for
developing an effective and conducive
Islamic financial framework, Shari’ah
compliance procedures for Islamic
financial institutions, liaising with Islamic
standard setting bodies and international
Islamic financial organisations. The unit
also advices the management of MMA on
Shari’ah issues relating to Islamic finance
and undertakes the secretariat function of

the MMA Shari’ah Council.

The is responsible for allocating
to the Enterprise Risk Unit which
includes: developing and implementing a
risk management framework, providing
strategic advice, raising awareness and

supporting a risk aware culture, studying



The Extended
Management
Committee is a forum
for constructive
dialogue between the
Senior Officials and
Middle - Management

the causes of risk, keeping track of

emerging risks, acting as a source of good
practice, and undertaking the secretariat
functions for the Risk Management

Executive Committee.

The Legal Unit provides legal support and
advice to the Governor and management,
and deals with the legal aspects of the
MMA’s entire range of operations to

develop and implement MMA policies.
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5. Key administrative and operational

activities

5.1 Staff Recruitment,
Development and Training

MMA provides an excellent working
environment for staff, with a competitive
remuneration package inclusive of

a medical insurance and a pension
scheme, to attract and retain the best
human capital. At the end of year 2012,
the total number of staff at MMA was
163. While total female employment in
the organisation stood at 52 per cent,
the male-to-female ratio in the senior

management was 1:1.8.

The ethical and fair standards maintained
for its employees and the efforts made

to uphold the credibility of the MMA has
helped the organisation to attract high-
quality graduates, who now form 70 per
cent of the professional and technical jobs

in the organisation.

In recognition of the dedicated and much
valued service to the MMA, the Authority
introduced the annual Long Service
Awards in 2012 for those who have
worked 20 years or more with the MMA.
These awards were given during the event
held to mark the 31st Anniversary of
MMA. Nineteen staff received this award

and they were:
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. Ms. Nareema Ali
. Mr. Mohamed Thaufeeq
Mr. Ahmed Anwar
Ms. Fathimath Waheeda
. Ibrahim Naseer
Ms. Zulfa Abdul RAhman
Mr. Abdul Ghafoor Abdul Latheef
Ms. Najmunnisa

Mr. Mohamed Ibrahim
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. Ms. Shafeeqa Hussain
. Mr. Ahmed Waheed
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. Ms. Hawwa Naseera
. Ms. Aishath Zahira
. Ms. Aminath Rasheeda
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. Ms. Mariyam Hussain Didi
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. Ms. Fathimath Jawza

. Mr. Mohamed Hashim
. Ms. Soodha

. Ms. Fathimath Zuhaira
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As part of the emphasis given to staff
motivation, MMA has empowered more
staff to work as leaders by forming
Extended Management Committee (EMC)
which consists of 42 Section Heads.

In addition to this, to foster a friendly
environment among co-workers and to
promote collaboration and team spirit,
MMA introduced a new award, ‘Tjthimaaee
Award’, an award given to the staff who is
committed to create a sense of belonging,
affection and respect within the staff

members.



Mohamed Ibrahim,

a member of staff,
receiving the Long
Service Award
at MMA’s 31st

Anniversary function

MMA has always placed a high priority to
develop the functional and professional
capacity of its staff in order to maintain
excellence and quality in the work and
services provided by the organisation.
During the year 110 staff undertook

70 training and skill development
programs. Of this, 99 staff completed
various custom designed in-house
courses conducted by the MMA Training
Institute. An induction program for 6
new employees were also held during the
year to familiarise them with the business
process and procedures of the MMA

and to support, welcome and recognize
employees as they start the new job in
MMA. Thirty Nine staff attended 50
different seminars and workshops held by
foreign central banks and international
training institutions. In addition, 9 staff
attended short-term seminar/workshops
organised by different local institutions
in the country. To gain greater
understanding of specific work processes
of central banks, 4 officials from MMA
visited the Central Bank of Sri Lanka to
enhance knowledge on their liquidity

management system.
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MMA also awards scholarships every
year to the staff to pursue academic

and professional qualifications from
universities abroad. In this regard, under
MMA Human Resource Development
Program, 2 employees were selected

for post-graduate studies in the United
Kingdom. In addition, 5 other employees
were sponsored under the Employee
Assistance Program (EAP) to pursue

tertiary education in the Maldives.

MMA Training Institute

The MMA Training Institute (MMA TI)
was established in February 2010 to
enhance the capacities and capabilities

of the staff of the MMA and to extend
the training opportunities needed for the
development of the financial sector. The
MMA TI offers a broad range of programs
to address the needs of the MMA and the

other financial institutions in the country.

During the year 2012, the MMA TI
conducted 7 workshops/seminars.

212 participants from14 financial
institutions in the country took part in
these programs. In addition to these,
MMA TI also held several lectures and
presentations on various economic
and financial sector issues. Majority of
the facilitators and speakers at these
programs were technical experts on their
areas from well-known international

organisations and foreign central banks.

28

CYC VR ) ()



Annual Report and Financial Statements 2012

Following are the workshops/seminars

and lectures that were organised by the

MMA Training Institutions during 2012:

1. Training course on Islamic banking

products: Shari’ah and operational aspects

2. Workshop on Strategic Implementation

Planning

3. Seminar on Monetary Policy in times

of Crisis

4. Seminar on Islamic Money Market
Instruments and Islamic Liquidity

Operations

5. Customised Business Communications

Skills Training
6. Training course on Dhivehi language
(in association with Dhivehi Bahuge

Academy)

7. Workshop on Economic and Financial

Issues for Media Personnel
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8. Evening Lecture — Underlying Shariah

Principles of Islamic Finance Contract

9. Evening Lecture — World Economic

Outlook

10. Evening Lecture - Contemporary
Development in the Management of Risk

in Financial Crime

11. Evening Lecture — Introduction to

Islamic Finance

12. Monthly lunch time seminar series -

various topics

The MMA is the sole issuer of the
Maldivian currency and is responsible for
ensuring that the demands for currency
are met adequately. In addition, MMA
safeguards the integrity and the quality
of the currency used in the country, and
ensures that only genuine and fit notes
and coins are in circulation. At the end of
2012, currency in circulation was MVR

2.5 billion, which is an increase of 17 per



cent compared to MVR 2.1 billion at the
end of 2011. In 2012, no currency notes
were printed as the MMA had adequate
stock of all denominations of rufiyaa.
However, to replenish the stock of coins,
1 rufiyaa, 50 laari and 25 laari coins were
minted during the year. Further, 10 laari
and 5 laari coins were also minted with a
change to their shape - from a scalloped
shape to a round shape. These new coins
were introduced into circulation on 14th

July 2012.

During the year in collaboration with

the MMA, the World Coin Association of
Germany issued commemorative coins
of rufiyaa to mark two international
sporting events. The first one was a silver
coin titled “2014 FIFA World Cup Brazil”
to commemorate the FIFA World Cup
2014 to be held in Brazil. The second coin,
also in silver, was titled “Olympic Games
2016- Beach Volley” to commemorate
the Olympic Games to be held in Rio de
Janeiro, Brazil.

To keep consistent with the international

Commemorative Coin for FIFA

World Cup 2014 Brazil

Reverse Obverse
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Commemorative Coin for Olympic

Games 2016 - Beach Volley

Y, 1" g

Obverse

Reverse

currency codes, on the 1st of July 2012,
MMA announced the official currency
code to be MVR instead of the previously
used Rf code.

5.3 Key regulatory and

supervisory activities

Issuance and Revocation of License

Insurance brokers licenses were issued to
two parties to operate in the Maldives on
20 March 2012 and 5 November 2012,

respectively.

License was issued to a party to operate as
an individual insurance agent of Amana

Takaful (Maldives) Plc. on 26 June 2012.

The license issued to a party to operate

as a corporate agent of Allied Insurance
Company of the Maldives was revoked
under section 54(f) of Guidelines for the
Administration of Agents (2010) for non-

compliance.
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Licenses issued to two private individuals
to operate as individual agents were
revoked under section 54(e) of Guidelines
for the Administration of Agents

(2010) on 31st July 2012, following the
termination of the Agency Agreement

between the Insurer and the Agent.

Regulatory Activities

+  Regulatory action was taken against
a firm for non-compliance to the
insurance regulation of the MMA.

+  The FIU conducted an on-site
examination of two commercial
banks during the year to check
their compliance with the Maldives
Financial Transaction Reporting
Regulations (2011), which is designed
to monitor any AML/CFT activities in
the financial sector.

+  FIU received two suspicious
transaction reports (STR) from the
financial institutions in 2012. These
were examined and it was found that
the first STR did not require any
further investigations. The second
STR required further examination
and it was forwarded to the relevant

authorities for further investigations.
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5.4 Legislative activities

Amendment to the Prudential
Regulation on Asset Classification,
Provisioning and Suspension of

Interest

The prudential regulation on Asset
Classification, Provisioning and
Suspension of interest (Regulation no.
5/2009) issued in June 2009, was revised
during the year 2012. The amendments
include changing the criteria for Bank
Guarantees to be classified as Doubtful
Asset. Under the amendments, any
Guarantee which is not honoured within
30 days of call would be classified as
Doubtful Asset. The amendments also
include granting power to the board of
directors of the MMA to temporarily
extend deadline for compliance to the
regulation. The amendments came into

effect on 6 June 2012.

Bill on First Amendment to the
Banking Act (Law no. 24/2010)

Bill on the First Amendment to the
Banking Act was submitted to and tabled
in the People’s Majlis on 24 October 2012.

The drafted amendments include:

+  changing the time period to process
applications for a banking licence
from 3 months to 5 months

+  removing the specific limits on credit
exposures (i.e. previously specified as
not to exceed 15 per cent of capital to

a single party, 40 per cent of capital



to a corporate group, and aggregate
of all large exposures to not exceed
500 per cent of capital) and granting
powers to the Maldives Monetary
Authority (MMA) to prescribe limits

on credit exposure by a regulation.
Mortgage and Security Interest Bill

Abill on mortgage and security interest
was submitted to the Economic
Committee of the People’s Majlis. This bill
provides for creation of securities interest
in movable property, registration of
securities interests, creation of mortgage
over immovable property, enforcement
securities interests and mortgages,
appointment of receivers, and for other
related purposes in relation to securities
interest and mortgage. The bill was
submitted to the People’s Majlis on 11
October 2012.

Prohibition and Prevention of
Money Laundering and Financing

of Terrorism Bill

The bill on prohibition and prevention

of money laundering and financing of
terrorism was further reviewed during the
year, in line with the revised standards
of the Financial Action Task Force.

The revised bill was sent to Attorney
General’s Office on 26th September 2012
for submitting to the People’s Majlis.
This bill provides for the prohibition

and prevention of money laundering

and financing of terrorism, procedures

related thereto, and the establishment
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of a Financial Intelligence Unit in the

Maldives.

Extension of the validity of the
regulations for insurance industry

and finance leasing companies

The validity period for the Insurance
Industry Regulations and the Regulations
for Finance Leasing Companies and
Finance Leasing Transactions, issued
under the Law no. 6/2008, was extended
until April 2013.

Insurance Bill

The draft bill on insurance was sent to
Attorney General’s Office on 6 February
2012. The draft bill was shared with all
the operating insurers, brokers, agents
and was also published on the Authority’s

website for public comments.
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6. Key Organisational Developments

6.1 Adoption of a
communication strategy

A formal communications policy of

the Maldives Monetary Authority was
introduced with the commencement of
work at the Media Relations and Public
Affairs Unit in April 2012. For the first
time in the history of MMA, social media
accounts were open for YouTube, Facebook
and Twitter, to widen the audience reach
of the general public. The communications
policy of the MMA aims to minimise
misinformation, increase efficiency

and timeliness of the organization’s

communications.

6.2 Publishing of
‘Iqthisaadhee Review’

The Monetary Policy and Research
Division published a new monthly
publication named ‘Iqthisaadhee Review’
during the year. This is the first economic
publication of the MMA in Dhivehi. This
publication provides a brief commentary
on the macroeconomic developments
during the previous month. The first issue
of the ‘Iqthisaadhee Review’ was published
in December 2012.
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6.3 Launching of Lunch-time

Igthisaadhee
Seminar Series Review launching

ceremony
A series of seminar sessions was

introduced as ‘Lunch-time Seminar Series’
during 2012. The purpose of the seminar
sessions are to share information with
the staff of MMA and other invitees
about research papers and studies on
macroeconomic and other financial sector

issues.

6.4 Formulation of a
Customer Charter

In order to safeguard the rights of
customers and improve public confidence
in the banking system, MMA formulated a
“Customer Charter” in 2012. The Charter
sets key standards of banking practices
that can be expected by customers when
conducting transactions with banks, and

provides guidance to banks for adopting



a ‘Code of Conduct’ for customer service
and protection. The Charter also defines
a set of customer obligations towards

banks.

0.5 Adopting a Terms of
Reference for the AML/CFT
Steering Committee

The AML/CFT National Coordination
Committee, which is a national level
inter-agency committee, established for
the formulation and the implementation
of the AML/CEFT policies, formalised

and adopted a terms of reference (TOR)
for the committee on 12th July 2012.

The discussions on establishing this
Committee, together with adoption of a
Terms of Reference for the Committee
started in 2008. During these discussions,
the participating agencies agreed on
establishing this Committee. The agencies
also agreed to keep working on finalising
the TOR due to concerns with any
overlapping that may arise because of the

new constitution of Maldives.

0.6 Survey of Maldivians
Travelling Abroad

As part of coverage improvement of
balance of payments statistics, Survey on
Maldivians Travelling Abroad 2012 was
conducted at the arrival hall of Ibrahim
Nasir International Airport (INIA) from
December 21-27, 2012.
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6.7 Submission of Mutual
Evaluation Reports

As part of the Asia-Pacific Group on
Money Laundering (APG) membership
obligations, Maldives has undergone
Mutual Evaluation on Financial Action
Taskforce (FATF) 40 Recommendations
on Money Laundering and nine Special
Recommendations on Combating the
Financing of Terrorism in 2010. The
Mutual Evaluation was conducted by an
IMF assessment team and the assessment
report was adopted in the APG Annual
Meeting held in India on July 2011. The
report is now published on the IMF and
APG websites.

Based on the recommendations in the
report, Maldives was required to submit
three Mutual Evaluations follow-up
progress reports to the APG. The first
progress report was submitted to the APG
on 31 October 2011 and the second and
the third progress reports were submitted
on 31 January 2012 and 31 May 2012,
respectively. These progress reports
highlight the progress Maldives has made
in addressing the actions recommended in

the assessment report.

Despite the progress made by the
Maldives, based on the progress reports
submitted, the APG Secretariat decided to
keep Maldives under the APG’s enhanced
follow-up process and required the
authorities to submit a comprehensive

progress report by 31 January 2014.
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0.8 On-going Development

Projects

Maldives Interoperable Payments
Systems (MIPS) project

The key objective of this project was to
enhance access to finance and banking
services to all the citizens of the

Maldives. The MIPS project consists

of implementing a Real Time Gross
Settlement System (RTGS), an ACH, an
Electronic Fund Transfer (EFT) Switch
and a Mobile Payment System (MPS). This
project was funded from a loan from the
World Bank through the International
Development Association (IDA) and a
grant from the Consultative Group to
Assist the Poor (CGAP). RTGS commenced
live operations on 10 April 2011 and

ACH went live with Direct Credits on 2
February 2012.

Credit Information Bureau project

Until the beginning of February 2011
there has been no identified formal
mechanism in the Republic of the
Maldives for credit providers to share
information on the past performance of
their borrowers. As a result, lenders have
been forced to resort to informal data
sharing, in order to reduce information
asymmetry when making credit decisions.
Therefore, to improve the access to
finance for underserved business
segments, and to further develop and
improve the efficiency of the financial

sector, MMA initiated a project to
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establish a credit information registry for
the Maldives. This project was financed by
the Asian Development Bank. The work
on the project began in 2009 and in 2011,
the Credit Information Registry of the
Maldives named as Credit Information
Bureau (CIB) was set up. Although CIB’s
scope of service extends to the utilities
and telecommunication sector, the lack of
adequate legal framework and difficulty
in obtaining information in the required
format has limited the credit information
repository to currently operate only
within the financial sector governed by
the Authority. The repository covers data
from 9 financial institutions, inclusive

of a leasing company and housing
development corporation. It contains
information on credit facilities from the 9

member institutes.

As the credit information repository

is highly dependent of ‘error free’ data
submission by member institutes, onsite
visits and workshops are regularly
conducted by the CIB technical team to
its member institutes. During the year a
total of 13 onsite training sessions were
conducted for the member institutes

on retrieval of reports from the system,
data submission and error correction.
However, the lack of dependency by
financial institutes on credit reports while
extending credit, and non-adherence by
some members to the timely submission
of data remains as the key challenges for

fully operationalising the system.



Lunch-time
seminar series
promotes
interactive
discussions on

various topics
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The second part of the CIB project is

the establishment of a Central Movable
Asset Registry and during the year
feasibility study and a legal analysis was
conducted by two individual international
consultants. They also drafted the
necessary STR legislations namely, the
Movable and Immovable Property Secured
Transactions Bill, which have been now
incorporated in the mortgage bill and is in

the parliament.

MMA TV brings news

and events related to

MMA on YouTube

Enterprise Resource Planning
(ERP) project

The work on implementing an Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) solution at
MMA started in 2012. The aim of the
project was to reengineer the accounting
function of the organisation to facilitate
efficient recording of MMA's financial
transaction in order to generate timely
financial and management information
reports. This will centralise and automate
the accounting system, systemise the
maintenance of human resources records
and the procurement process of MMA.

In July 2012, an implementer of the
system was selected and work began in
September. By the end of the year 2012,
the project plan was finalized with the
Go-Live of the system set for May 2013,
and completed the information gathering
sessions on MMA'’s business processes to

design the required solutions.
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7. International Relations

MMA continues to work closely with
other central banks and supervisory
authorities to promote cross-border
supervision of financial institutions, to
foster a safe and sound financial system in
the Maldives, and to share expertise and
best practices. Further, MMA maintains
close collaborations with international
financial institutions and development

agencies.

7.1 Signing of international
Memorandums of
Understanding

As of December 2012, MMA has signed
three Memorandums of Understanding
(MoUs), with the most recent being the
one with the Labuan Financial Services
Authority (Labuan FSA) of Malaysia on

2 October 2012. This arrangement will
enable MMA to learn from the experience
of Labuan FSA to develop the financial

sector of the Maldives.

MMA also has a MoU with the Bank

of Mauritius, which was signed on

the 19 December 2011. This laid the
groundwork for providing a formal basis
of cooperation, and includes exchanging
information, assisting in investigations,
taking enforcement actions, and applying
prudential standards in regulating and
supervising the financial institutions.

The MoU between the Central Bank of
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United Arab Emirates and MMA that was Delegates of the 16th
signed on 21 December 2010, agreed to SAARCFINANCE
foster a closer relationship through the Coordinators’
cooperation in regulatory issues as well Meeting

as in supervision of banks and other
financial institutions operating in both
countries. It also enables the exchange
of supervisory information between the
two countries, in line with the Bank for
International Settlements Home-Host

information sharing.

7.2 Meetings and

Conferences hosted by the
MMA

SAARCFINANCE Meetings

The Chair of the SAARCFINANCE

was transferred from Royal Monetary
Authority of Bhutan to the Maldives
Monetary Authority on 25 September
2011 at the 23rd SAARCFINANCE Group



Meeting held in Washington DC, USA.
Accordingly, MMA hosted the 15th
SAARCFINANCE Coordinators Meeting in
Male’ Maldives from 12-13 March 2012.
The 24th SAARCFINANCE Governors
Meeting was held in Pokhara, Nepal on 16
May 2012. It was chaired by the Governor
and Chairman of MMA and was attended
by all member countries of SAARC.

The 16th SAARCFINANCE Coordinators
Meeting was held in Bandos Island Resort
and Spa from 2-3 September 2012. All
member countries of SAARC except

Afghanistan attended the meeting.

The 25th SAARCFINANCE Governors’
Meeting was held in Tokyo in October
2012 concurrent with the IMF/WB
Annual Meetings of 2012 was attended
by all member countries of SAARC except
Afghanistan.

7.3 Visits by teams from
international institutions

IMF Article IV Consultation

Mission

The Article IV Consultation mission
from the IMF visited the Maldives

from 30 October to 13 November,
2012. The mission held discussions
with the President, Minister of Finance
and Treasury, the Governor of MMA,
other senior officials of MMA and the
government, Public Finance Committee
of the Parliament, representatives of

the commercial banks, private sector,
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and donor community, regarding
macroeconomic developments and
policies and the outlook for the medium

term.

IMF Technical Assistance on Bank

Supervision

The IMF assigned a Bank Supervision
advisor as a resident advisor, who
completed his one year term during 30
April 2012. During his visit he assisted
Bank Supervision staff in conducting
on-site supervisions of commercial
banks, revised bank’s reporting formats,
resolved issues on banks’ compliance with
prudential regulation and revised off-site
surveillance reports. Another visit by

an IMF team of three members made a
visit to Maldives from 30 October 2012
to 12 November 2012. The purpose of
the mission was to improve the risk-
based supervision, Capital Adequacy and
enforcement framework relating to the

Banking Industry .
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8. Fiscal Agency Function

MMA acts as an agent to the Government
for the issuance and management

of government securities. The major
developments and activities in
government securities market are

highlighted below.
8.1 Treasury Bills Market:

One of the major developments in
Treasury bills (TBills) market was the
introduction of one year (364 days)
MVR TBills on 12 August 2012. The
purpose was to lengthen the maturity
profile of the domestic debt and provide
long term investment opportunities
for the investors. In addition, to widen
the investor base and diversify the
TBills market, it was opened to private
companies on 22 August 2012, as it
was previously limited to Commercial
Banks, State Owned Enterprises and
their subsidiaries. Moreover, private

placements in USD and MVR TBills were

also introduced to all eligible participants.

TBills operation continued in 2012 to

raise finance required for the government.

A summary of TBills holdings is shown in

Table 1.

Table 1. shows that TBills outstanding
increased by 38 per cent since 2011.
When compared to 2011, it is observed

that investors have shifted their
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preference from long term TBills to short
term. This can be seen from the 107 per
cent increase in 28 day TBills and the
reduction of 91 and 182 day TBills by 37

per cent and 70 per cent respectively.
8.2 Treasury Bonds Market:

A US$ 100 million Treasury Bond
(TBonds) matured in 2012. Of this, a
second tranche of US$ 50 million matured
in early 2012 and was rolled-over for one
more year. The first tranche matured on 3

December 2012 was repaid.

-

¥y
2011 2012 (2012 / 2011}
(millions of nifivaa) chg Yechg
Treasury Bills
Cutstanding by Security
— 28 days 1241.5 [ 2371, 1.328.6 | 107%;
— 91 davs 1.640.0 [ 1.029.8 (610.2); -37% =
— 182 davs 1.803.0 533.5 | {1.269.5); -10% =
— 364 davs - 23162 | 235162 f1a
Total Cutstanding 465845 | 64506 | 17661 358% 4

Table 1. TBills

outstanding by

maturity

Source: MMA
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9. Financial Statements

9.1 Auditor’s Report

Balance Sheet

Income Statement

Notes to the Financial Statements
Annexes

A.1: Audited Financial Statements
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Independent Auditors' Report
To the Board of Directors of the Maldives Monetary Authority

Repart an the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financlal statements of Maldives Monetary Authority (the
“Authority™), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2012, and the
income statement, statement of moverments in equity and statement cash flows for the year then
ended, and & summary of significant accownting policias and other explanatory notes.

Management's responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statemants in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determinas is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditor's responsibility

Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements baszed on our audit. 'We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards reguire
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whather the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the linancial staterments. The proceduras selected depand on the auditor's judgment, including the
assassment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controd relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the linancial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, An auwdit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policles used and the reasonabdeness of accounting estimates made by management, as
witll a5 evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion,

Opinion

Im our opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Authority as at 31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the yvear
then ended in accordance with Internaticnal Financial Reporting Standards.

=

24 April 2013
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 3] December 2012

Assets

Foreign currency financial nssets
Cash and balances with banks

IMF related asses

Subscriptions o intermalional agencies
(kher receivables

Total forekgn currency Mnanckal assets

Local eurrency linamcial assels
Subseriptions o intermalional agencies
Interest and other receivables

Loans to the Government

Invesiment in Government Bonds

Interest Receivable on Govemment Bonds
Investment in Governmend Treasury Bills
Total lncal currency financial asseis

Total financial assets
Lical eurrency non-financial assets

Ciold and silver assels

Invenlaries

Property, plant and equipment

Intnngible assets

Prepoyments and advances

Total local currency mon-financial assets

Twinl asseis

Mote

L

W oos =d oh

i
- =

12
13
14
15

2012 201

MYVE MVR
4,470,229,741 4,548 687,003
390,467 849 403,463 086
831,517 833,681
T 9,564
4.870,536,513 5,352,993 524
8.509.716 468,135
2593119 -
331,391,576 26,441,246
3 RO, (o0, D) 3, 806, DO, D0
B6,069, 4446 BE,241,200
779,603,135 -
5,004,167,212 3,929, 1 50,601
9,884, 703,725 a8 144,125
40,061,282 19,618,586
71,3467 444 33,182,702
5T.808.904 T4.607.114
44 865,130 41 643 422
2RI 414 2 646,654
217,027,194 101,698 4TH
10,101, 730,91% 2473842603




Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 20102

Liabilithes and equity

Foreign eurrency lnancial labilities

Balances of commercial banks

Balances of government and government instiiulons
Payable 10 Asian Clearing Lnion

IMF related liabilities

Inlerest bearing loans

Deposits of international finencial institutions

Oither liabilities

Taotal foreign currency Mnancial lkabilities

Local carrency financial linbilities

Balances afl commercial banks

Balances of government and govemment insitulions
Balances of insurance companiss

Deposits of intermational financial institutions

Other liabilitkes

Total local carrency fimancial linbilities

Total financial Habilitles

Orther linbilities

Currency in circulation

Deferred granis

Pension and other employment benefits payable

Tutal liabilities
Equity

Capital

Reserve

Tatal equity

Tatal liabilities and equity

Moie

16
i)
1]
19

21

BEESE

27

28

2012 21

MYER MYR
2455.909,137 2 364,657 089
119,568,205 121,964,410
12,562,384 7,705,144
613,498,935 616,489,717
125,605 495 107,756,674
831,517 33,681
17,815,876 18,429,451
3,345,791 625 3237 834,166
3,441,763 734 3,009,536,058
21,443 B63 207,012,909
10, D0 0D B0, D, DaHD
10,901,775 PA5L352
217,363,812 160478335
3,701,472, 184 3,396,479,654
T.047 263,813 6,634 315,820
2 475,540,003 2,196,674, 027
4,441,733 10,459,728
4,874,507 5,343,545
2 484,856,243 2.212,477,300
0,532 120,056 B, E46,793,120
S0, a0, 00 S0, 008 D)
519,610,863 397,049 483
569,610,863 617,049 483
10,101,730,919 9,473,842,603

The Baard of Dirsctors of the Maldives Monetary Authority suthorised these financial ststements for issue on
April 2013 Signed for and on behalf of the Board by,

&l ErnvsT & YouwG

Malé| Maldrees,

Corgay ey 1L



Maldives Monetary Authority

INCOME STATEMENT
As at 31 December 2012

1] b I

Operating incoms Note MYVR MYR
Foreign currency income and expenses 29
Interest income o foreign camency financial nsseis 609,723 1,893 545
Interest expense on forelgn currency fnancial labilities (4.570.767) (5,390.247)
Met foreign currency income EXIEL T (1,49, 702)
Lacal eurrency imcome and expenses 30
Imlerest income on local curmency financial nssets M8 975,620 TH8656,798
Imterest expenses on local curency financiall Eabilites {35585 A06) {38,669 386}
Mel losal eurrency imcome I 300,220 TE0AAT 412
Oitheer iIncome 31 15438, 800 15,774,103
e foreign exchange revalustion gain 17.725.915 328,431,857

7. 504,805 344,206,560
Tatal net aperating income 313,703,982 BO2607,270
Oiperating expenses
Persannel expenses iz 3T 24T AGE 32,534 987
Administration expenses 33 37,253,132 15,204,623
Deprecintion, amortisation and impairment 33,533,822 ST.162.554
Tatal operating expenses 108 02% 423 124,902, 164
Met prafil fer the yvear 205,764,559 477,795,106

""Jn-l:".-
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Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at 31 December 2012

MNuote 2011 011
MYR MVR
Cash Nows from operating nctivities
Sources:
Interest recelved- forelgn currency T.611,520 4,065,840
Interest received - local currency 338,350,506 298,313,239
Fees, commission and other miscellancous Encome 13,533,838 15,718,042
received
Realised foreign exchanpe profits - 35,829,807
370,696,263 353,527,018
isbursements:
Interest paid - foreign currency (2,899,170) (5,390,247)
Imterest paid - local currency (35,585 406) (38,669 387)
Paymenis o employess [37,711,506) (51,244, 341)
Paymenis te suppliers and Pees‘commission paid (79,032 339) (24,051, 548)
{155,238 420) {129,355,723)
Met eash low from operating activities 35 124,467 843 124,571,295
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Saurces:
Net increase / (decrease) in currency deposits (12,535) (157,960)
Met increase | (decrease) n depoaits from financeal 523473715 T2 565 977
institutions
Met increass / {decrease) in deposits from the { 169,208, 495) (1,357,124 341}
Grovernment
Mel increase / (decrease) in other labilities 1,231,455 L RO
355,509,120 (364,909, 323)
Dishursements:
Met (incrense ) decerense in assets held with IMF 2,022,387 (24,495,052)
Met (incrense] § decreass in |oans and advances w the {1,134, 550,330 =
Government
Expenditure on development projects (15,179.99T) {33,201,578)
Purchase of property plant & equipment (4,860, 508) (2,455,043)
Profit paid to the the Government (205,310,123) (132,578,640)
(1,357 887.568) (192, 730,113)
Met cash flow from investing activities (1,002,378, 449) (757.,639,436)
7




Maldives Monetary Authority

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
As at 31 December 2012

Mote 2012 1l
MYVR MYVR

Cash Nows from Ninancing activithes
Sources:
Issue of currency in elreulation 27H,B63,976 315,538,247
Met increase / {decrease) in ACU payables 4,876,377 (49,109,042)
Mel increase [ {decrease) in securities issued = (92,000, AT}
Met increase / {decrease) in inserest bearing loans 18,180,585 44,360,245
Met increase | {decrease) in liabilities with IMF 7,552 34,074,124
Met increase / {decrease) in grant from CGAP - 1335479
Met cash flow from financing activities HHL,230,332 264,399,055
Met inerease /| decrease) in cash and eash
equlvalents [475,980,274) (268,669,086}
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalenis (2,489,631) 916,890,534
Cash and cash equivalents as af the begimning of the
yeiur 4 947 835174 4 290613726
Cloaing cash and cash equivalents as at 31
December 2012 36 lﬂﬂis.lﬁl 4,947 835,174




Maldives Monetary Authority

MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

REPORTING ENTITY AND STATUTORY BASE

These are the financial statements of the Maldives Monetary Authority (the Authority); the institution
established under the Maldives Monetary Authority Act (MMA Act) of 1981 of the Republic of
Maldives, The Authority is domiciled in the Republic of Maldives and is situated at Majesdhes Building,
Male', Republic of Maldives,

The Authority was established in 1981 and is responsible:-
{a) To issue currency and regulate the availability, and international value of the Maldivian Rufivaa;
(b} To provide advisory services 1o the Government on Banking and monetary matters,
() To supervise and regulate banking 5o as o promote a sound financial structure; and

{d) To promate in the country and outside the country the stability of Maldivian curmency and foster
financial conditions conducive to the orderly and balanced economic development of Maldives.

These financial statements for the yvear ended 31 December 2012 were authorised for issue by the Board
of Directors of the Authority in accordance with the article 35 of MMA Act,

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain assets and liabilities
that have been measured at fair value as identified in specific accounting policies below,

Reporting format

The Authority presents financial assets and financial liabilities, and their associated income and expense
streams, by distinguishing between foreign currency and local currency activities, In the statement of
financial position assets and liabilities are presented broadly in order of liquidity within such
distinguished category. The Authority considers that this reporting approach provide appropriate
reporting of the Authority's activities.

Currency of presentation

The financial statements are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, unless otherwise stated, and are rounded 1o
the nearest Rufivaa,

Statement of compliance

These financial statements of the Authority for the year ended 31 December 2012 have been prepared in
scoordance with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS).

2.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING FOLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous financial year.

1.2 STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS

THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Standards isswed but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Autharity’s financial staterments
are listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretation issued, which the Authority reasonably
expects to be applicable st a futwre date. The Authority intends to adopt those standards when they
become effective, and currently their impact is not reasonably known or estimated.

Tia
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

1.2 STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED STANDARDS
THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUEDY

IFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Amendments to
IFRS 7

These amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related
arrangements (e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users with information that is
useful in evaluating the effect of nelling arrangements on an entity's financial position. The new
disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are st off in accordance with 1AS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also apply to recognised financial instruments
that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of
whether they are set off in accordance with LAS 32, These amendmeants will not impact the Authority's
financial position or performance and will become effective for annual periods beginning on or after |
January 201 3.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, as issued, reflects the first phase of the TASE's work though the adoption date is subject to the
recently issued Exposure Draft on the replacement of IAS 3% and applies to classification and
measurement of financial asseis and liabilities as defined in 1AS 39, The standard was initially effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, but Amendments to IFRS 9 Mandatory
Effective Date of IFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures, issued in December 2011, moved the mandatory
effiective date to 1 January 2015, In subsequent phases, the [ASB will address impairment and hedge
aCoounting.

IFES 12} = Fair Value meapsarement

The standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2013, IFRS 13 does
nod change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how to measure
the fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liahilities when required or permitted by IFRS.
There are also additional disclosure requirements.

Adoption of the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the financial position or
performance of the Authority.

In addition to the above, following standards have also been and will be effective from 01 Jameary 20013,
IAS 1 - Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income — Amendments to [AS |
1.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDMGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management 1o make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities, ai the end of the reporting pericd. In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Authority has made the following judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements.

Fair ¥alue of Financial Instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial linbilities recorded in the Statement of Financial
Position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from
obsarvable markst data where possible, but if this is not available, judgment is required to establish fair
values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and inputs such as discount rates.




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

13 BIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Authority reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each Statement of Financial-
position dafe 1o assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statemant, In
particular, management's judgment is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of futere cash
flows when determining the impairment loss. These estimates are based on assumptions about a numbser
of fwctors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually (and found not to be impaired) are assessed
together with all individually insignificant loans and advances in groups of assets with similar risk
characteristics. This is to determing whether provision should be made due to incumed loss events for
which there is objective evidence, but the effects of which are not yet evident.

Pensions and other post employment benelil plans

The cost of defined benefit plans is determined using an internal valuation. This valuation involves
making assumptions about discount rates, rate of compensation and future pension increases/decreases.
Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject o significant wncertainty.
Assumptions used are disclosed separately in the notes to the financial statements.

3, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Foreign currency translation

The Authority’s functional and presentation currency is Maldivian Rufiysa. Transactions in foreign
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at
the reporting date. All differences are taken to the income statement. For the purposes of retranslation
the following Maldivian Rufivaa exchange rates for major currencies were used:

22 December 2011 December
MVE MVR
I Australinn Dollar 159423 15. 6606
I Euro 203119 20,1385
I Singapore Dollar 12.5675 11.8758
| Special Drawing Rights (SDR) 23,6532 23,7685
1 Sterling Pound 24 8504 24,1385
1 United States Dollar 15.3700 15,4100

Mon-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in & foreign currency are franslated
using exchange rates at the dates of initial transactions. Mon-monetary items measured ot fair value ina
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
In accordance with the Chapter 3, Section 13 of MMA Act 1981, on 10 April 2011, The President of The
Republic of Maldives in consultation with the Board of Directors of MMA has announced that the
exchange rate of Maldivian Rufiyan against USD is permitted to fluctuate within a +20% band of MVR
12.85 per USD, effective from 11 April 2011. From 11™ April 2011, MMA has started calculating
realized gains on foreign currency transactions, The methodology used is the average cost methodelogy.

LI




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial Instruments — Initial Recognition and Subsequent measurement

Financial Assets within the scope of 1AS 39 are classified as Loans and Receivables, Held-to-Maturity
Investments, Awvailable-for-Sale Financial Assets as appropriate. The Authority determines the
classification of its Financial Assets at initial recognition,

Date of Recognition

All financial asseis and liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date, ie., the date that The
Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument, This includes “regular way
trades’: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Imitinl Measurement of Financial Instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their purpose and
characteristics and the management's intention in acquiring them. All financial instruments are measuned
initially at their fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets and financial
linbilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-zale financial invesimenis

Available-for-sale invesiments include equity and debt secunties. Equity invesimenis classified as
available-for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value
through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market
conditions.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair
valuse.

Held to Maturity Financial Asseis

Held to maturity financial assets are non—derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities, which The Auwthority has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial
mensurement, held to maturity financial assets are subsequently measured &t amortised cost using the
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation is
included in *Interest Income” in the Income Statement,

If The Authority were to sell or reclassify more than an insignificant amount of held to maturity assets
before maturity (other than in certain specific circumstances), the entire category would be tainted and
would have 1o be reclassified as available for sale. Furthermore, The Authority would be prohibited from
classifying any financial asset as held 1o maturity during the following two years under [AS 39.

Bl EpnsT & YOLNG

Charlensd Aocounients
Bald, Maldives
T



Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continwed)
Loans and Advances to the Government

*Loans and adwances 1o the Government® include non—derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

After initial measurement, ‘Loans and Advances to the Government® are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the Effective Interest Rate, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The amortisation
is included in “interest income’ in the income statement. The losses arising from impairment are
recagnised in the Income Statement in ‘Impairment Charge’.

International Monetary Fund (IMF) related balances

In accordance with Article 22(j) of the MMA Act, the Authority may act as fiscal agent of the
government in its dealings with International Financial Institutions transacts with the International
Financial Institutions and undertake financial agency work for the government. In compliance with the
MMA Act, the accounts with Intemational Monetary Fund (IMF) in which records all transactions with
the IMF have been included in these financial statements on that basis.

The cumulative allocation of SDRs by the IMF is treated as a liability. Exchange gains and losses
arising on revaluation of IMF assets and liabilities at the exchange rate applying as at the reporting date
as published by the IMF are recognised in the income statement.

All other charges and interest pertaining to balances with the IMF are recorded immediately in the
incHme statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at foreign banks and financial institutions and short-term
deposils.

As a part of local currency activities the Authority generates certain income and incurs expenses, which
do not involve in movement of cash, Those activities resull in certain assets and liabilities and mainly
comprise of the transactions with Government and transactions with domestic banks and financial
institions. Transactions with Government include the banking transaction to the government and
govermmental institutions. The results of these transactions are reflected as mere book entries in the
records of the Authority,

As the sole statutory authority, the Authority issues currency to the public in line with MMA Act,
Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour of the holder. This is a
liability on the part of the Authority while it is an item of cash in the hands of the holder, Movement in
circulation currency is included as part of financing activities in line with prevailing industry practices
among those central banks which present statement of cash flows.

The Authority through the cash/pay order process disburses cash in the form of notes and coins or
cheques drawn on the Authority, to various drawers including suppliers and employees for goods and
services obtained, which is either added to the currency in circulation liability or deposits by banks and
financial institutions. Such forms of utilisation of currency for the purposes of the Authority’s payments
form part of cash cutflows of the Authority.

LT
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Repurchase and reverse-repurchase transactions

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase confipue o be recorded as assets in the statement of
financial position. The obligation to repurchase (securities sold under agreements to repurchase) is
disclosed as a liability. The difference between the sale and repurchase price in repurchase transactions
and the purchase price and sale price in reverse-repurchase transactions represents an expense and
income respectively and is recognised in the income statement.

Securities held under reverse-repurchase agreements are recorded as an asset in the statement of financial
position (securities purchased under agreements o re-sell), Both repurchase and reverse-repurchass
transactions are reported at the transaction value inclusive of any accrued income or expense.

Invesiment portfolio
Government of Maldives treasury bonds

The Authority’s investment porifolio consisis of treasury bonds purchased from Govemnment of
Maldives. The portfolio is recorded in the statement of financial position at amortised cost since they
represent loans provided to the Government.

Crovernment of Maldives treasury bills

This investment portfolio consist treasury bills purchased from Government of Maldives. Under article
22 (h) of the MMA Act, the Authority has purchased MVE T-Bills to meet the budget financing of the
Government of Maldives.

Advances o government

Advances to Government represents direct provisional advances made to Government of Maldives under
Section 22 [h} of the MMA Act, as amended,

Loans to other institutions

Loans granted to other institutions are recognised and carried at the original granted amount less an
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance for doubtful debts (for loan impaimment) is
established if there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect all amounts due.
The amount of the allowance is the difference between the camrying amount and the estimated
recoverable amount. Bad debts are written off when identified.

Securities lending

Transfer of securities to counter parties under lending transactions is only reflected on the statement of
financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also transferred.

Assets earried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried al amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s camrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash Nows (excluding future credit losses that have not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate (i.c. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced either directly or
through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the income staterment.

e
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuwed)
Asseis carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in & subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income
statement, to the extent that the carryving valwe of the asset does not exceed s amortised cost at the
reversal date.

ther asseis
Crald

Section 21 (2) of the MMA Act which specifies the composition of external reserve indicaies that gold
may be held by the Authornty as part of this reserves. Hence, Authority holds gold as part of its external
reserves, As this gold is part of the external reserve and nol wsed as a commodity which is traded during
the normal course of business, (hence, not a financial instrument as per the definition in LAS) gold 15 fair
valued and the gains or losses are transfemred fo the income statement. Prior 1o appropriation of profils,
the unrealised gains or losses from gold are transferred to the foreign asset revaluation reserve.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Met realisable value is the price at
which inventories can be sold in the ordinary course of the business less the estimated cost of completion
and the estimated cost necessary to make the sale,

The value of cach category of Inventory is determined on First in First out basis,

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the cost of replacing
part of such property, plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Except for the freehold land, depreciation is calculated on a straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Class of asset Useful life
Buildings on freehold land 30 years
Machinery and equipment 5 years
Furniture and fittings 5 years
Maotor vehicles 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years
RTGS Software T vears
Credit Information Bureau Software 5 vears
Automated Clearing House T years

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the camying value may not be recoverable. The assel’s residual valwes, useful
live and methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, regularly.

‘;-_ =By o Ifﬁ
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* Chartered Accountents
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {Continwed)
Intangible asscts

The Authority”s intangible assets include the Maldives Credit Information Burcau and the Maldives Real
Time Gross Settlement Systemn which went live in 2011 and the Automatesd Clearing House which went
live during the year 2012, In addition to this, value of Maldives Interoperable Payment System is also
classified under development as at the reporting date. Costs of these intangible assets are recognised only
when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that
are aftributable to it will flow to the Authority.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly atiributable costs necassary 1o
create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

In particular these costs include costs of materials and services used or consumed in generating the
intangible asset, costs of employee benefits (as defined in LAS 19) arising from the generation of the
intangible asset; fees to register o legal right; amortization of patents and licenses, if any, that are wsed to
generate the intangible asset and finance charges as defined by IAS 23 Bomrowing Costs. Selling,
sdministrative and other general overhead expenditure are nod components of the cost of an intermally
generated intangible asset and are charged to income statemnent as and when they are incurred unless this
expenditure can be directly attributed to preparing the asset for use. ldentified inefficiencies and initial
operating losses incurred before the asset achieves planned performance are also treated the same as the
above.

Im pairment of Financial Assels

The Authority assesses at each reporting date, whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, thers is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an ‘incurred loss event”) and that loss event
{or cvents) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include: indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is
experiencing significant financial difficulty; the probability that they will enter bankrupicy or other
financial re-organisation; default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; and where observable
data indicates that there 15 a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Impairment of non-financial assels

The Authority assesses al each reporting date if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired, whether there is an indication that a non-financial asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the Authority makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds ifs recoverable amount, the asset is considened
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o their present value using a
pre—tox discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, and other available fair value mdicators,

For assets an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the Authority estimates the asset™s or CGU's recoverable amount.




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Confinued)

Previpusly recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions
used to determine the asset’s recoversble amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The
reversal 15 limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor
exceeds the carrying amount that would have bean determined, net of depreciation, had no impainment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the Income Statement.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill are not reversed in future periods.

Drther liabilities
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an owtflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to seitle the obligation and a reliable estimaie can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the
Authonty expects a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement i3 recognised as a separale assed buf
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain,

Defined contribution plans

Emplovees are eligible for Maldives Pension Office Contributions in line with Maldives Pension Act of
B200% The bank contribules 7% of employees’ gross emoluments o Maldives Pension Office
Coniributions which is a separately administered defined contribution plan. Accrued rights payable for
the past service to those employess in employment with the Authority has been accounted separately in
these financial statements as per the provisions of Maldives Pension Act of 82009,

Currency in circulation

Currency issued by the Authority represents a claim on the Authority in favour of the holder. The
liability for currency in circulation is recorded at face value in the siatement of financial pesition.

The fair value of currency in circulation is considerad to be itz face value as reported in the financial
statements.

Granis

Grants recognised at their fair wvalue (where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions, if any, will be complied with) are shown under other labilities, When the
grant relafes to an expense item it 15 recognised in the income statement over the periods necessary (o
match them to the expenses it is intended to compensate on a systematic basis. Where the grant relates to
an assed, the fair value is credited fo a deferred govermment grant account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset on a systematic basis consistent with the
depreciation policy of the related asseat.

Current Tax

In sccordance to the section 15 (a) (1) of the Business Profit Tax act of Maldives Inland Revenue
Authority (MIRA), Provisions of the Business Profit Tax Act are not applicable to Maldives Monetary

Authority,
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2012

3

ER

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the ecomomic benefits will flow to the
Authority and the revenue can be reliably measured, Expenses are recognised in the income statement on
the basis of a direct association between the cost incurred and the earning of specific items of income,
All expenditure incurred in the running of the business and in maintaining the property, plant and
equipment in a state of efficiency has been charged to income in arriving at the resull for the vear.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue and expenses are recognised:
Interest income and expenses

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income staterment for all interest bearing instruments
on an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price unless
collectability is in doubt. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and
securities and acerved discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments. [nterest
income is suspended when loans become doubtful of collection. Such income is excluded from interest
income until received,

Miscellaneows
Miscellaneous income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis.

Met gains and losses of a revenue nature on the disposal of property, plant and equipment have been
accounted for in the income statement, having deducted from proceeds on disposal, the carrying amount
of the assets and related selling expenses.

Gains and losses arising from incidental activities to the main revenue generating activities and those are
nol material, are aggregated, reported and presented on a net basis.

Contingent liabilities and commitments including off balance sheet items

All guarantees of indebiedness, forward foreign exchange transactions and other commitments, which
represents off balance sheet items are shown under respective headings recognised as off balance sheet
items, Where applicable, such amounts are measured at best estimates.

Cash Flow Statement

The Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared by using the ‘Direct Method® in accordance with LAS 7
on Statement of Cash Flows, whereby gross cash receipts and gross cash payments of operating
activities, financing activities and investing activities have been recognized. Cash and cash equivalents
comprise mainly cash balances, money at overnight placements and highly liquid investments of which
original maturity of 3 months or less.

Mature and extent of activifies

The Board of the Authority is vested with the powers 10 camry out the functions of the Authority and are
responsible for the management, operations and administration of the Authority.

The functions of the Authority as per Article 22 of MMA Act are given below:

il Open accounts and accept deposits from, the Government its agencies and public entities, banks
and other financial institutions in Maldives.
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2002

3 EUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.1 Matwre and extent of actbdiles (Continued)

iy Act as correspondent, banker, agent or depository for any monetary authority, central bank or
international financial institution;

i} Open and maintain accounts with such banks or other depositories and appoint them as
correspondents or agents of the Authority in or outside Maldives as may be necessary;

iv) Buy, sell or deal in gold coins, bullion or foreign exchange;

¥) Buy, sell, inwvest, or deal in treasury bills and other securities issued or guaranteed by foreign
governmenis or intermnational financial instifutions;

vi) Buy, sell, invest, or deal in treasury bills and other securities issued or guaranteed by the
Government; y

vii) Make loans, advances and rediscounts to banks and other financial institutions in Maldives for
periods not exceeding ninety days on terms and conditions which the Board may prescribe;

viii) Make temporary advances to the Government as may be agreed;

ix) Make advances to the Government on terms and conditions to be agreed upon in respect of
subscriptions and other payments relating to the membership of the Maldives in any international
financial institution, the participation of the Maldives in any account thereof, and any
transactions and operations undertaken in connection therewith;

x) Act as fiscal agency of the Government in its dealings with international financial institutions
and undertake other financial agency work for the Government;

xi) Borrow money for the purpose of the business of the Authority, and may give securities for
monies so borrowed as provided by law with the approval of the President of the Republic and,

xii) Guarantee the repayment of government loans and the service charge thereof,

xiii) In conjunction with the banks, organize and manage a Clearing House.

The activities carried out in order to achieve its objective of economic, price and financial system
stability with a view 1o encouraging and promoting the development of the productive resources of the
Maldives can be broadly segregated into foreign currency and local currency activities. Results of these
activities are taken to mean operating activities in the context of the income statement

Foreign currency activities

Foreign currency activities result mainly from the Authority’s holdings of foreign currency assets under
its foreign reserves management function. The foreign reserves portfolio comprises foreign currency
assets held for investment and settlement purposes.

The foreign currency assets are held in various currencies. The majority of foreign currency assets are
denominated in United States Dollars, Euros and Sterling Pounds.

Local currency activities

Local currency activities largely involves the Authority offsetting the daily net flows to or from
government or market by advancing funds to or withdrawing funds from the banking system. With
regard to this liquidity management is undertaken through weekly open market operations. In addition to
this the Authority’s budgetary expenses are also included in local cusrency activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As

at 31 December 2012

1 ] ] o1l

4 CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS MV MV
Foreipgn currency cash in hand 15,937,376 5,021,427
Balances with ather cemrl banks 5,117,556 4 370 468
Balances with other foreign banks 25,79, 549 27416,239

Money af overniphs placememis

with ather central banks (Mote 4.1) 4. 386,598,000 4 874, 183,00
with cither foreign banks (Mote 4.2) 33,814,000 33,902 004
Investment in Axed deposits with foreign banks (4.3) 2072 260 2 BO9% 959
_4.4131115.141 4,548,687, 003

4.1 Federal Reserve Bank of New York
The Authority invested LISD 2R5 4000000 [2011: USD 316,300,000V-) in an overnighl repurchase
agresment with the Federal Reserve Bank of Mew York at an interest rate of 0.17% per anmum
{2001: 0.01%)

4.1 JPMorgan Chase New York
The Authority invested USD 220000000 (2001: USD 220000000~} in an overnight repunchase
apreement with the JMMorgan Chase Mew York of an interest rate of 0L05% per annem (201 1:
0.05%).

4.3  Iovestment in fixed deposhts with foreign banks
Dretnils of the fied deposit imoestments are as follows;

Bk Awrannis in MVE Matwrity dinie Fnteresi rale
a} Bank of India; Singapore E6d 474 11 Juna 2013 1.50%
b} Bank of India: Singapoare 2B 28] 31 January 20013 0%
¢} Hebib Bank Limited: London 2079505 31 Januwary 2013 L35%
2012 2011
3 IMF RELATED ASSETS MYVR MVER
Halding of Special Drawing Rights { Note 5.1) 162,912,456 165,713,816
IMF Quota (Nate 5.2 236,532,001 237,685,000
Interest receivables 23,393 64,270

e L e RTINS

21 MHolding of Special Drowing Righis
The Special Drawing Right (SDR) is an intermational reserve assel, created by the IMF (o
supplemnent s member countrles’ officlal reserves. Iis value is based om a basket of four key
intermational currencies, and SDR's can be exchanged for (resly wable currencies.

20




Maldives Monetary Authority

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As it 31 December 2012

il

IMF RELATED ASSETS (Continsed)

Haolling af Special Drawing Rights (SDR) (Continsed)

Holding of SDR's is pobentially a claim on freely usable currencies of IMF membess, in that holders
of SDR's can exchange their currencies for SDR's. The SDR's value a5 a reserve assel derives from
the commitments of members to hold and accept SDR's, and to honowr varbous obligations
comnecied with the operation of the SDR system. The IMF ensures that the SDR's claim on fresly
usable currencies is being honoured in two ways: by desipnating IMF members with a strong
external position to purchase SDR's from members with weak external positions, and through the
arrangement of voluntary exchanges between panticipating members in o managed markst. The
amount shown above represents the total holdings of SDR'S by the Autharity as o8 the respeclive
reporting dales.

IMF Quata

The Internitional Monetary Fund (IMF) i3 an iniernational crganization of 187 member countries. 1t
was eslablished to promoie international monetory cooperation, exchange stsbility, and orderly
exchange mmangements; to foster economic growth and high levels of employment; and to provide
temporary financial assistance to countries 1o help case balance of payments adjustment. Quolas
{capital subscriptions) are the primary source of IMF resources. The IMF receives its resources
from its member countries. Each coumry's subscription, or quota, is determined broadly on the basis
of the economic size of the country, and taking inte pooount quotes of similar counires. Upon
joining the IMF, a country must pay 25 percent of its quota in widely accepied foreign currencies or
SDRs, and the remaining 75 percent in its own currency.

Subscriptions: A member's subscription to IMF resources is equal o its quota and determines the
maximum amount of financial resources the member i3 obliged to provide to the [MF. A member
miust pay its subscription in full: up to 25 percent must be paid in reserve assets specified by the
[MF (503 or usable currencles), and the rest in the member's own currency.

The quota defines o member's voting power in IMF decislons. Each IMF member hos 230 basic
vates plus one additional vole for each SDR 0.1 Mn of quota, The amount of financing a member
can obtain from the IMF (Access limits) is based on its quota. Under Siand-By and Extended
Arrangements, for instance, 0 member can currently borrow up 1o 200 percent of its quota annually
and 600 percent cumulatively, Access may be higher in exceptional circumstonces and to meet
specific problems.

The Republic of the Maldives has been a member of the IMF since 1978, The Maldives Monetary
Authority ncts as bath the fiscal agent and the depository for the IMF. As liscal agent the Monetary
Authority is autherised to carry out all operations and transactions with the Fund. As depository the
Monctary Authority maintaing the Fund's currency boldings and ensures that the assets and
liabilities of Fund membership are properly reflected in its accounts and presented in iis financial
statements, The Quota of the Maldives is its membership subseription.

The subscription is granted mainky by the issue of promissory nodes in favour of the IMF and partly

by forelgn currency payments by the Government of the Maldives. As ai 31 December 2012 the
IMF Quota of Maldives is SDRE 10 million.

R AR Bl ErnsT & YOUNG
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MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As M 31 December 2012

.1

N

SUBSCRIPTIONS TD INTERNATIONAL AGENCIES M2 11|
MYR MVR
MOFT promissary mates irawad
Fuorrign qwergney
Mahilsteral Imuesiment Guarmsder Agency 431,517 E335E1
Local cwrremcy
Inmernatioral Bank for Recormnaction end Development 8,264 330 B, 264 310
Asian Development Bank securities 245,386
2409716 HAEE 155
9,541,253 9500 536

The Authority is desigrated as the depository of the Intemstional Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (IBRLY, Asian Development Bank and Muoltilsteml lnvetment Guoaranies Agency (MIGA)
Tor the Eepublic of Maldives. The above balances represent the promissory noles tesued by Ministey ol
Finanes and Treasury [MOFT) 1o the sasd inshibations for membership ssbscnptions and relaed paeposes.
These profasary noles ane fon-nepolisble and non-intorest beanng motes payobde o the above instilulions:
on demsand

imz 011
INTEREST AMD OTHER RECEIVABLES MVR MV
Oither receivables B.646,13)] 4053002
Lesz Allowanee for doebtill receivalles (4,053,012} [4051.013)
1£!|H! =
e I
LOANS TO GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS MVE MVE
Miwusiry of Finance and Treasury: MIFOD Loan

. 26441 348
Cregridtinw off Public Bank Accont 331, 591,57 -

331,591,576 o441.244

Minigtry of Finamce and Treaswry: MIFCD Loan

A loan smounting io MY &2 200,000/ has been given 1o Maldives Industnial Fisheries Company Limated
1o moel thewr working capital requirements through 1999 wo 2001. This ioan was transfered 1 MOFT in
2IHM and wad pinable over a period of len years al an interest mie of &% per anmam. This kean was fully
repaid on 15 March 2012

Ministry of Finamce amd Treasury: Overdraw of Public Bank Accound

Under artiche 23 {h) of the MMA Act, the Autherity has granted shor ierm advasces i meel the hudgpe
finamcing of the Government of Maldives and was s=ithed oo 15 Jasvainy 2013,

01z o

INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BiNDS AMVEH MYVEH
Balanice s &t | Jasusry 1 B08 000, 000 3,806, 000,000
Setthemenis made during the year (&3 000, 04040) 5
Aot nodled ower during the year 5,000,000 -
Balance as at 31 December M

Imvestmeni in gevermment banids

Under nicle 22 (k) of the MMA Act, the Authority hes gramed loans and advances in the farm ol Ways
and Means aceount adverces and Inans and advances o mesi the beadget finsecing of the Government of
Maldives.

O 16 Awsgust J00% and 3 September 2009, both the Authonty and the Goversment of Maldives agreed 1o
comverl the owmstesdng poncgal amounts of the kans and advances, whach amounied 0 MYE.
4,089 000,0000- in ipiml, inip CGevemmenst bomds, On 24 April 20012, the Authority sgreed with the
Govermment o rodlover two bonds of MVE 317 milluon cach for & period of | year, These two bonds were
redeemed i April 2013




Maldives Monetary Authority

MNOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat 3] December 2012

9 INVESTMENT IN GOVERNMENT BONDS (CONTINUED)

2 RN
.1  Eemaining term 1o maiurity MYR MVE
WWithim one year 241 000,000 &34 000,000
Tven 1o flve years 1,263 000,000 1,268 000,000
Sis oy 1em years 1 270 DO [HH] 1,270, (MK, 0
Mgre Bhan 1en years 317, 0040, TN 34,000
- B
1] INTEREST RECEIVABLE ON GOYVERNMENT BOND iz 011
MYR MYVE
Balanse as ad | January BR, 241,200 ERAIEITI
Inberest accrued during the vear 162,440 076 BB 241 00

Interest seitlements made daring the year

Balasse a5 ai 31 December

{164,620, E30) (BB, 418,371}
A6 061, 846 BE 241,200

2 FUIN]

1] INVESTMENT IN GOVERMMENT TREASURY BILLS MYR MYR
Ciovermment T-Bills H25 500,000 .
T-Balls Delicired Dhaesant (&0, TG 5 ) -

779,600,355 -

Purchass of Gevermment T-Bills
Ulnder articke 22 (h) of the MMA Act, the Authority has purchesed MVER Treasury Bills of Government of
Muldives on & December 2002 ot an isterest rale of 7% and the mabarity date is 2 December 3013

O 15th February 2003 Awthonty purchased Treasury bill with & face valae ol BMVR 1964 million & a
diseoun] rale of TH
On Ist April 2013 Asthority purchased Treasury bill with a face valus of MYR &34 mallion at a discont

el of T
wiz i
17 GOLD AND SILVER ASSETS MVR MV
Gold a fair value (Mote 12.1) 15.9940,110 3HTA
Silver af cost TLi72 1,17
dik0a 1,282 39.618.386

121 The Authonty holds gold as part of its reserves. Gold i fair valeed and the gaing or losses. are recognised in
the income sislement.

2 01
13 INVENTORIES MYRE MVE
Hobes for circulation 150734 25 B02,1 24
Cains for cerodlation 11,054,737 6,341 04
COMMeMoralve Loins 121970 1,039 454
Coins held abroad in siorage (Mo 13.1) 36,543 3043
Tatal invenlarici &l ool T1 36T A44 23,182,702

131 MVR 36642 203 & the cost incamed 1o ming the ooins beld sbeoad o1 the Minting Company. These cains

had been minied during 2012 and would be brought in dus courss

23
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2012

Mizldives Mialdives Rreal

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS Credit Time Gross
Infarscation Senlemsenl Aubssalal b 1] 2001
Burvau Swsbem Chearing House Taial Takal
151 Liroas caFryving amousls MVYE MYRE MYVR YR MYV
il gl
Balance s ot | January 035,357 15,417 554 - 235,332,911 11,253.124
Caat incurred during the vear - . = - 1,551 495
Supportung ard raining cosis - - - - 11.952.976)
Transfernad dering the year - FA6T 500 I} IRE Dds 34,756,454 1541754
Leis: Compuler hardwang - " = . 11,933 ki)
MI'“'“'"‘ o fapratielyle 8035387 IBARSO0E]  ILIRE0HE  SI00,065 35353010
14}  Amoriissiions
Ealance i ot | January 1,618 504 1,707 BEE . 3,330,754 “
Charge for the yeu LBOSONG 2S5 QTISAT  TOTM3 _ JIjed
Accumulabed depreciation 3,434,532 A 2A0, 060 TIERATY 10,801,237 FAT6 I

154 On 22 Dowber 3000 the Authority has enieeed inte an agesement with Dua & Bradarest (Asia Pacilic] Pie Lid w develep
Maldives Credit Information Boeesu (MCIB] for & sl cost of USD 977,065, The abose balances represest the cost
incumed on the progett a3 ol the respective reparting dmes. Devclopment ol MCIB commenced on 19 Mevember 2009 asd
ihe assei bacome opersienal on 7 Pebruary 351 |

155 Malkive: Resl Tese Jross Semlemest Syilem which i one of the compeacsis o Maldives Inierspesahile Payment Syiless
{MIPE} became operatonal on 10 April 331 1. The sbove balances represem ihe cosi incumed and the amortizalion charges
a8 ot the sespective seporling dates. The sstoust translernal dusing e year are he amoenly outitandsy lor which imnices
wre o received dering the year

146 Sulomated Cleanng House which 15 ene of the componentt of Makliees Infsroperabla Paymaenl Systems (MIFS) became
operational on 2 Februmry 2012, The nbove balances represent the cost incumed os ol 31 December 2012,

m2 L] ]
(E5) Develpgement projects under work in pregress MVR MV
1570 Mieldives fterapennbie Poyssenr Spriee
Balancn az al | Jeuary 19,615 008 B2 A0 5560
Cost ircerred during e year 10,763,811 15,196,010
Trmnglien mljusiments (25 509,454 124054 34%)
Impaimmmt Losses (4871 36T} {33,554 525}
Malance as 2t 31 December - RG]

The Aulhesity eartied 0wl implemeating of the Maldives Imeroperablie Payment Sysiem [MIPS) ai & votal estimaied cost ol
LFED 146145 malliond-. The above bakinces represent ihe cost iscerred on the projeci as at the respective repording dales. The
project wis partially Fonded by MOFT lasn ender the spensorship ol ktemalional Developsest Asioeiation.

1571 MM ERF SEies il k=11 |
MVE MYE
Cosi incumed duning ihe year |57 60 % -

The Awthonty is developing o ERP Systom (Enberprisn Resowos Planning Sostem] in ander 10 centralisg the sccosnling
wymerm ol the Authanty, The above halances repersent the cost incurted oo the project &5 & e fespeciive reponing does.
The project is fally funded from the Authority's ssnual edpel

I5¥ Demls ol Nrsmace charges capezalissd Tor MIFS 15 65 Tollows; Nz - )
MVE MYRE
Mdeddives Credii Baformation Bureau v 1 RCEE]
Mdaldives Imeroperable Paymest Syaiem . Gl 250




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2012

1 3 2011

[[7} BALANCES OF COMMERCIAL BANKS MYVR MYVR
Forelpn currency baloweer:  Relmied patica 617,526,149 il 4ED, 138
hers 1,833 3E2 0TE '|,'||ﬁ'|1|ﬁ7|g5|
T ASE 00 12T 2364 657,089
Local currency balamees: Relmed purties 1,497 3RO 825 145863 1,041
Others 1,730,183 505 1,470,904, 417
Cheermight placement deposiis 1 9. CHHD, D) A0.000, N0
A4, TRA T J.00%.536,058

Totsl balamees of commercial banks

5.897,672,861 5&'7911&1?

16.1  As per tee section 4] of the MMA Act, the Autharily 8 sctng &8 (he regulatar of the commercial banks
opersing in Uhe Maldives. In carrying out this duty the Awstharity open acoounis for and accept deposits bo
fvcilicase imerhask iransfers and monflor mdnimsn reserve requinesnents impased on e commereial banks,

7 BALANCES OF GOVERNMENT AND GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS
Related parties b1 ] 2011

MYE MYER
Fureigm currency deposite:
MOFT and goremment instibulicns 119,568,295 121 954,080
Public: emcrpriscs - 10,330
119,568,295 120,904,418
Local currency depesit:
MOFT and government isstitutions 20,798,350 147 %28, 158
Public enlerprises 644,812 S9.684.T21
20447 863 20T 0 2,
Totul balances of governmeni and government instimiions I4L011, 158 ﬁﬂ:il:
1L I 2011

18 FAYARLE T ASIAN CLEARING UNION MVE MVR
Payabile as o the end of the year 12558 627 7,704,574
Accreed dmlerest 1857 17

S —. N

181 The Asian Claaring Union (ACU) was established in 1974 under the ausspices of the Economic and Social

Commissson for Asin and the Pacific as & mechanism for seulemem

ol peyenceds amwmg pariicipating

countries” Central Banks and the Maldives became a member of ACU in June 2009, The other panticipants ane

Bangladesh, ihe Islamic Republic of lran, Mepal, Pakisian, |sdin, Bhuian,

Myanmar and S Lanka, This is a

chearing Tacility to setibe, on & multilmleral bagiz, payments for curenl inlermational ansaclions among

Neritaries of participants. Mel posilion as al end of cach month is senlled
|perind.

ar regeived, afer Pao-month credil

The rate of interest applicable for a setllement pericsd will be the closing rale om the first working day of the
Inst week of the previows calendar month offered by the Bank for Intemationad Setilemenis (BIS) for one
muonth US dollar and Euro deposits. lmerest on ACLU Dollar trassactions wers betweoen 0% o 0073 in 2012,

Albove halance represenis the smounis doe o ACL &s m the repoating daie,

6

Bl ErnsT & YOUNG
Charteend Mccounlants
Malé] Maldws
N ]




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Asat As at 31 December 2012

19.1

19.2

193

194

2012 i1
IMF RELATED LIABILITIES MVR MVE
[MF Securities Account (Mose 1%.1) ITTARLING 179,339,484
[MF Mo, | Account (Mote 19.2) 584,482 5,611,605
[MF Mo, 2 Account (Mote 19.3) 062 7,012
Allocation of Special Drawing Righis (Mote 19.4) 181,919,316 182, &0, 101
Exopenous Shock Facility (Mote 19.5) 48 489,060 A8, 725 425

ilﬁ:ﬂ.ﬂE 616,489,717

IMF Securities Accouni

The Authority mairtains the IMF securities account on the statement of financial position and includes
mon-negotiahle, non-interest bearing securities issued by the MOFT in favour of the [MF, which are
payuble on demand, These securities are issued for T5% of the qusta lmability payable in Maldivian
Rufiyaa, for wse of [IMF eredit facilities such as Emergency Assistance Facility and Stand-By
Apresmeent ete, and for the revaluntions made by the IMF every year as of 30 April. The IMF accounts
were last revaluwed in 3th December 2012 by [MF, the valuation adjustment of [MF Mo, Account was
also adjusted from the securities account as per IMF and MOFT instruction,

During March 2003, M&A repasd the first instalment of SDR 512,500,000 for the 1oal disbursment of
SDRE.2m received under the IMF Standby Arrangement

012 2011
MVR MVR
Balance as al 1 January 3793309 484 IR 1,400, 656
Promissory noles issued &lﬁng I']Ej'mr - 107,427,323
Exchange rate effect on IMF Securities account {1,840,369) (9,488,535)
Balance as at 31 December 377499115 379,339,454

IMF Mo, | Account

The Mo, 1 Account is used for IMF transactions and operstions, ncleding subscription payments,
purchnses, repurchases, repayment of borrowing, and sales in Maldivian Rufiyaa.

IMF Mo, 2 Aceount

The Ma, 2 Account is wed for the IMF s administrative expenditures ond receipts (For example, receipts
from sales of IMF publications) in the member’s currensy and within it erritory. Small out-of-pocket
expenses, such a3 telecommunlcation charges, may be debited fo this sccount on a quarterly basis,

Allocation of Special Drawing Righis

The SDR is an international reserve assel, created by the IMF w supplement its member countries’
official reserves. s value is based on a basket of four key international currencies, and SN can be
exchanged for freely usable currencics. The amount shown above represents the wal allocation of
SDHR's to the Authority as at the respective reporting dates.
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1%

19.5

IMF RELATED LIABILITIES [Continued)
Exogenouns Shock Facility

The IMF provides Excgenous Shock Facility (ESF) to its member countries which are affecied by an
event that has a significant negative impact on the economy and that is beyond the control of the
governament, The ESF has two componenis:

A rapld-access component under which a country can access fabrly quickly, up 1o 30 percent of lts quota
for cach exopenous shock, with resources normally being provided in o single disbursement. This
companent can be used on & stand-alone basis or ns o firs slep towards higher pocess.

A high-nceess component with access up to 150 percent of quota for each armangement in normal
circumatances. Resourcss are provided in phased disbursements based on reviews, and programs are
one-io-two wears in length, The IMF approved a 24 month armngement under ESF for Maldives
amounting to SDR 8.2 millien {1002 of quata) on 4 December 2009,

First disbursement amounting o SDR 1025 million under the ESF was received on 4 December 2009

and on 25 March 2000 the Authority received the second dishursement pmownting o SDR 1.023
million upan completion of IMF review,

The following table shows the details of Exogenous Shock Facility Loan:

Imterest Maturity iz 011
rate date MVR MYR
Mam-current
Exogenous Shock Facility 0.50% I April 2020 48 455,060 48,725,423
28
" LI R
gl B ErnsT & YOUNG
= ] | 3
“al A7 RN ———
e ius” a2 Makivas
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20 INTEREST BEARING LOANS

from Minisiry of Finance and Treasury

MCTH Total
iz
MVER MVE

9,752,122 107,756,674
- 18,461,676

(47,307) (612,855)

Tutal
1
MVE

61,102,229
34,278,081
12,376,164

MIFS

MVER
Balamce as at 1 Janwary 9%, M4, 552
Received during the vear 18,4461 676
Effects of exchange mies [565,548)
Balamce as al 31 December 1 1.5,k 680

9,704,815 125,605,495

107,756,674

20,1 The MOFT provided a loan ta the Awharity for an amount egual o SDR 4,900,000/ 1o underake the
Maldives Inmeroperable Payment System (MIPS) project on 3 August 2008, As al the reporting date the
Aumtharity has withdrmwn the full amount of SDNE 4,500, 0005,

Tolal loan amount
Inferesl rale L75%
Repaymeni

SR 4,000, 100

From |H0S201E o INOLE0ZR  SDR 49,000

From 15002028 o 1503208 SDRE 98,000/

.2 Om 23 July 2009 the MOFT and the Autharity have entered inlo a subsidiary boan agreement io fund the
Maldives Credit Informatson Buresu (MCIE) progect for iogal boan ameunting o SIHR 439, 000

The loan has to be repaid in 48 equal semi ancual instalments, The: first instalment being payable on 15
Maovember 20016 and the last instolment fall due on 15 May 20400 The Authority has fo pay inleres
charge at the raie of 1% per annum during the grace period and 1.3% per annun thereafier on the
amoint withdrawn. As al the reporiing date the Authority has withdrawn SOR 4 10_2%6/- from this loan.

pi] 201
21 OTHER LIABILITIES MVE MVE
211 Foreign corrency other liabilities
Accounts payable 1,243 470 1.740,8%3
Accrued charges 418,295 452 417
Bank of Credit and Commerce Insernational (BCCT) 15,058,482 15,097,671
Commercial banks human resource deve loprsent depasits T8 856 T9R,933
Cither deposits 2098, TT1 299 547
17,815,576 ll_-,-l-ﬂ__&

a8
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L1

5]

23

OTHER LIABILITIES

Local currency ather liabilities

Governenenl Comtribution 1o IMF Cuatla (Male 22 7)
15th of FARR payable to Governmend

Surdry credilors

Accounts payalle

Comenercial banks bunsn resource development deposits
Bank of Credit and Commeroe International (BCCT)
Accroed changes

Bl A humen resource developeneni deposils

Government Coniribwtion to IMF Quota

012 2011
MVRE MVYRE
33,381 544 33,381,644
63 465, 144 104 572 085
10,310,000 10,310,000
1,593, 165 2,726,115
4,551,357 4,548,325
2,928,341 2,046, T48
1,534,167 2,323,069
. 70,349
2TIGAAIT  I60ATRIZS

As @ 51 December 2011, Minksiry of Fisance and Tressury has made three payments towands the
IMF Qunia. This halmnce represents ihe foseign cumency porison of guota paymenis made by Mindsiry
ol Fimance and Treasury for the 1992, 15499 and 2011 quots incremsnts,

FENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
FAYABLE

Pre= Muoldives Penston Act 82809 Penstons (Mo 23.1)
Opening balmnoes

Less; Pension Payouts dusing the year

Add: Rewinding of inserest

Less: Reduction in present value of pension obligation
Present walue of pension obligation

Balamee as al 31 December

Pre- Maohlives Fension Act 82009 Pensions

w12 1011
MVR MYR

5,343,545 . 386, 194
(431,530) &
62,512 4

- {1042.549)
4,874,507 5,343 545
[T 5,343,545

The Auwthority provides defined benefit plons (“Pre- Maldives Pension Act R2009 Persions”) for
those employees who heve completed 20 vears service and opled to continue o receive such benefils
This 5 a lregen calaulation, where the pension payment ansounl was delermined based an (e salary
recerved by the emploves al the dme of completing 20 years service. Pre- Maldives Pensson Act

BrHO0S Pension was worked out w5 follews:

a) An emploves who became eligible (by workmp in puhlic sector For 20 years) 1o penssan arramgenent
in berween § Apeil 2007 and 10 Octaber 2007 receive a “Pre-Mew Pension Aot Pemsion™ calculmed m

112 misesth’s saliry o the eligsbility point until they reach ape af 65,

bj All employees who became eligible after 10 Oober 2007 up wnid 31 Jaly 20010 will receive &
pensian caleulated at 153 of monthly ssleny at the eligihility paint until they reach age of 83,
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23 PENSION AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS PAYABLE (CONTINUED

131 Pre- Maldives Pensiom Act 872009 Pensions (contimoed)

€) The principsl assumptions wed in determining employes bencfit oblipmioss fog Pre- Maldives
Pension Act £2008 Pensions plan ore shown below:

1z 2011

MVR MYR
Mosninal value of the beelic obligation 9165 %03 Q697 453
Present value of the benelit obdigation 4 BT4 507 5,347 545
Umrecognised imerest composent 4,291,396 4,353,908
DMscount rase 182 day Tressury ball ralcs BiA 697%
Discount rase: 364 day Treasury bill rates 7.86% MIA
Mumber of emplayees in the scheme 11 11
Avernge remaining years of service 16.11 1701
Retirement age &5 03

L 1) o

24 BALANCES OF INSURANCE COMPANIES MVER MYR

Relaied parties A4, 0CH), D0H) 4,000,000
{nhers 4, D0 i) i, M0,

10,004 1001000

The sbove balances represena the smisory depossts of the insurance companies operating in the
Maldives, These deposits carmy imierest af the rage of 1% per annum,
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5 DEPOSITS OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL 2z o
INSTITUTIONS MYR MVR
Imermational Development Association 303 574 272 534
Internaticnal Bank for Reconstroction and Development 9,726,439 8,533,442
Asian Development Bank 699 318 453 932
Multitmcral Invesiment Guaramce Agency 172444 172444

10,801,775 94521352

151 The Authority &5 designaied a5 the depository of the Iniernational Development Associabion (IDA),
Internmibonal Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRDN, Asian Development Bank ancd
Multilaieral Irvvestmeent Guarnnies Agency (MIGA) for the Republic of Maldives. The above balances
represeni the amounts collected on behalf of these supranational instinutions for varkous purposes as s
e respective reponting dales.

6 CURRENCY IN CIRCULATION
The Authonity, as the sole eurrency dsuing Aulhorily in the Republic of Maldives continug 1o perfosm
the funciion of issuing legal fender currency. The amount of currency issued by the Authorily and m
circulation as af respeciive reparting daes, are as follows;

i ELIR
260  Mel currency in circulation MVR MVR
Coins:
| Laasi 46,771 40,487
I Lawi 44,683 49,682
5 Lasei 333,047 306,641
10 Laari AZE ABD 451,833
13 Lnari 1,985,037 1,610,802
5 Laari 4,684,471 3,993,229
1 Rufivas 15,294,961 16,609, 100
2  Rufives 21,077,376 18,342,348
Dramagged coins [2.455) (2,455)
46977389 41,411,667
Modes:
7 Rufiysa 1,628, 544 1,630,140
5 Rufiyss 17,747,830 16,817,190
10 Rufiyaa 25,667,200 24,797,760
0 Rufiyss 26,%14,040 24,386,520
50 Rufives 36,330,800 34,517,550
100 Rufiyas 185,487,204 181,208,900
500 Rufiyaa 2,130, TR7,000 1,871,504, 000
A28, 502614 1,155,262.360

_Eamssiegn __ aieeien

Curreney in circulation is mereased by the Authority's holding of Rufiysa colrs and notes catstanding
amounting 0 MVYIEL140, 014,519 and MYR316480 585 & at 31 December 2012 and 3001,
respectively. These amounts are deducied from the woial currency in circulation o arrive the abave

AU,
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181

DEFERRED GRANTS

The Authonity has wndenoken the Maldives Imeroperable Pavinesl Syslem praject. Consultulive
Group o Assist the Poor (OGAP) hes granted LISD 898, TOR- for the project smd the Axithonity
recognises the assels acquired for the project with the comresponding credit recogmised as defemed
rivenug. Chnmg the year 201 | anutilooed grant amount of USD 33,9444 was returned to COAP. The
remaindng balance has been convered 10 Rusliys aod 2 apportioned 10 the cost of the 4 componmts
of MIFS, As SWITCH and MPS pre impaired fally, the grast valee apponioned o these nwo
components are fully charged to the income statement. Grant Value apportioned o ACH and RTGS
are deferrd over the useful life of each component and charped 16 moome statermend on & mantkly
bussis,

The Autlonily s received 3 molor vehicle a8 & gill from the MOFT. The motor vehicle bhas been

recognised as an assel im the books aedd the comespomding credit recognised as deferred revemue and
will he amoriised over the period thai matches with the depreciaison policy of molor vehicke,

Charges in Sefermed grant are susmmarized in the lollowing 2 o
achedule: MVR MVR
Deferred grant, a3 ai the beginning of year 10,459,728 9,205,154
Exchange rate effoa - 1,858 5632
Cirants received during the year . .
Giramits reimbursed o CGAP . {523,084}
Adpustmenis to granis - CGAP grant smorntisation (3,936, 768) .
Adpustments 10 grants - Mosor vehicle smonization (81, 226) (81 004)
Balance as at 31 December 4,441,733 10,459,728
EQUITY AND RESERVES

Capilal

The Capital sccowunt represents the capilal of the Authority in acoordance with Chapler ', Section 15
of the MMA Acl

O 19 January 2010, The President's Ofice authorised the merease in Authoriny's authorised capdtal
by MYR 49 million. Subsequently the Authorily's authorised and coniribuled capial has bsen
imcrensed o MWH 30 millon by trassferring MYE 4% million from retaimed samings.

In sddition to the retaimed earnings, reserves comprise the following;
General resrve

The peneral reserve (s established in accondanee with Chapter ¥, Section 17 of the MMA Act As
per the provisions of the A, the Authoriny could sllocms 30% of the met profit of the Awtharity, 1o
Creneral Feserve nceount until the General Reserve is equal to the outharised copital of the Authority,
afier which the Authority could allocale 25% of ils net profil to the General Reserve account uniil the
Cieneral Reserve is equal 1o twice af the aulborsed capital.
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M EQUITY AND RESERVES (Continun)
183  Fereign msset revaluntion reserve

The Authority established Foreign Assef Revaluation Reserve (FARR) im sccordance with Chapeer
W, section 28 af the MMA Ad. According io the Act the gains and losses ansing fromn any chasge in
the valustion of the Aulbonity's mses or liabdities in gold, feeign cusrencies of olher unas of
actoainl, &8 6 resull of alieratsans of the exvernal vadue of the Rufiyaa, of of any chaige in the values,
parities, or exchange rales in respect of such msets in relation 1 the Rufiyan shall be credited o
FARR. As per the provisions of the MMA Act neither the gains nor the losses from change in
valustion of foreign omvency asseis and linbiliises of the Awihonity should be included m the
cimputacion of profil of loss

H
L
:':.1- --.'.
& o Charternd Accountants
Male, Maldivet
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il 011
I FOREIGN CURRENCY INCOME AND EXPENSES MVE MVH
I%01  Imterest income on foreign currency fimancial sssers
Interest on cvernight placemsais 71.318,670 3027,121
Receipts on SR holdings 286,613 861,026
Interest on reserve deposiis 4 440 5,398
Tﬂtﬂﬁ ﬂ&
102 Imterest expense an foreigm carrency finamclal Habilides
Charges on Stand-By Agreement 4,176,053 IB3Z214
Inberesl on reserve deposils 202 138 B15,287
Charges on SDR allocations 192,575 T2, 742
E‘J‘l]t'.l'ﬁ'.l' _'_-.E-ﬂ
iz Il
30 LOCAL CURRENCY INCOME AND EXFENSES MYVE MVR
31 Imterest income on bocal carrency financial assets
Interest on Government Bonids 203,072, 105 203,683,317
Interest an ways and means advances 4,315,678 1,195,678
Inierest an loars w governmen 140,290 1,594,720
[nterest recerved an Dverdrawn balance of Public Bank
Account L TEY S04 o
Inberest an reserve deposits - 181,073
Discounts on treasury balls 3719988 -
J08, 975,626 TOR G5G, TR
302 Infercst expenses on local currency financial Habilities
Iniegest on reserve depoaits 19,830 26 20,417,215
Interest an open market operations 14,565 474 13,367 882
Enbereat on overnight deposit faciliny GH0ATI 4. 811,417
Inberest on security deposits of insurnnce companics 90905 00,505
Intencat on mssigned capital deposit - (27,123}

T T T
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Jl

3

OTHER INCOME

Commissions received

Bank charges received

Annual license fees from financial instinsions
Mizcellapeous earnings

FERSONMNEL EXPENSES

Lalaries and wages

Penston and other employment benelli expenses
Defined contribution cosls

Remumeration to the hoard members

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Coast of isswing noles and coins
Staff trakining expenses

Liility charges
Telecommunicalions charges
Statiomary and siher affice expenses
Paymenis relading Lo meelings
Memberships and subscriptions
Expenses on projects under developmend
Repairs and maintenancs

Audit fiees

Other administrative expenses

i T B

2012 2011
MVR MVR
9,635,305 11,277,661
745,348 1,761,142
540,400 604,400
8,617,797 2,131,500
19,635,590 15,774,703
2012 2011
MVR MVR
34,486,252 30,327,464
62,512 (377,319)
1,871,170 1,798,231
522,494 786,611
37,241.468 32,534,957
2012 2011
MVR MVE
B,671,763 11,842,903
G682,624 4. 3M5.511
4,234,799 3,994,129
2,546,897 2,652,344
1,177,362 | 058,619
72,039 21,708
1,766,631 1,304, B85
1,787,646 i, 5493 {02
4,560,244 1, 800, 004
566,685 547,482
3,186,444 3,052,546
37,253,132 35,204,623
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H  PROFIT RE-APPROPRIATION TO THE GOVERNMENT

Under section 27{2) of the MMA Act, as amended, the Authority's net profit, as determined in
eccordanes with the Act, is paid o the government after making necessary appropriations 1o
provision and reserves under sections 26 and 271) respectively. During the wvear the Awbority
transferred MWVE. 205.310,125> w the Government in respect of scoumulated profits upto the vear
ended 31 December 201 1.

35 RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT WITH OPERATING CASH FLOWS

012 011
MVER MVR
Reported prali 205,764,559 477,795,106
Add ! [subtract) nos-cash ilems
Deprecintion, mmortisation and inspadrm et 33,533,822 57,162,554
Unrealised losses! (gains) on gold {442,695) (9,734, 459)
Unrealised losses / (gains) on foreign exchange (17.283.219) (282 867.472)
Add / (subiract) movements in other working
capital ibems
{Imcrease) / decrease in imerest receivable 4% 577,076 (171,263}
(Imcrease) / decrease in other income (6, 105,057) [ S6.662)
Increase / (decrease) in ineresi payable 1,670,597 -
Incrense / {decrease) in other payable (42,248.243) {17 5564
Met Cash Flow from Operating Activities Hﬁ"ﬁ Hdé?lﬁ
36 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE 012 011
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS MVE MVR
Foreign currency cash in hand 15937317 5,921,417
Balances with foreipn hanks 30,908,105 31,786,707
Money ot owvernight plocements 4,420,411 2,000 4,908,085 000
Investment in fixed deposits - -
: with maturities of 3 months or bess 2007786 2042 040
4. 469,365,268 4,947,835,174
K §ll ERNST & YOUNG
Chartensd Accountasts
Mali:] Maldres
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)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Authority's objectives when managing capital, which is broader than the 'equity’ on the face of
the sintemeni of financial position ane;

= o comply with the copital requirements cutlined in section 25 of the MMA Act; and
* to safeguard the Authority's ability to continue as 0 going concern so that it can confinue o
provide central banking facilities for the Maldives;

Copital sdequscy and the use of siatutery capital are monitored by the Authority's management in
sccordamce with the guidelines esiablished by the MMA Ad. As ot 3] December 2012 the
Authorin's authorsed and paid up capital was MVYRE 50 million. Authorised capiial may be
increased from timee to time by such amounis & may be proposed by the Board and approved by the
President of the Maldives.

0 ErnsT £ YOBNG

Charlared Accountants
Mald| bhaifives
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As s 31 December 2012

RISK MANAGEMENT

Maldives Monetary Authority as the Banker of the Government ensures that s reserves are
safeguarded. To this effect, the Authority issues currency, regulates the availability of (ke Maldivian
Rudiyan and promotes its ssabiliny, lienses, supervises and regulses institulions in the fnancial
sectar, formlates and implemesiz manciary policy, and sdvises the Government on igswes relating 1o
the economy and financial system in order to foster &0 environment conducive 1o tbe orderly and
blanced econombe devebapenent of the Maldives.

The Authosity's principal financial |fabilives comprise of amounts payable o commercial banks,
gavernment, pubdic entities and intermstional financzal matitulions whibe foreign currency cash and
cash equivalents, treasury bomds and [MF related asseis are its madn finencinl assets. The Authority
does nod ender inlo dervalive trarsactions. However the Authority is exposed to a variety of financial
and nan-financial risks when performing its functions such as;

= Country risk = Imerest rabe risk

* Murket risk * Foreign currency risk
+ Liguaidity rigk = Credil risk

» Dperaticnal risk

Financial risk is mormally any risk associated with any form of financing. Risk is probability of
unfavourshle condition il actual rebarns ane less than expecied returm.

Country risk

The foreign reserve invested overseas s expased to the country credit risk due o political, economic
and financial events in the coantry of nvestment, Coustry risk includes the possibility of
maticnalization or expropristion of sssets, government repudintson of extemnal Indeboedness, changes
in exchange conirol policies and cumency depreciation or devabasiion. Majosity of the Awihority's
foreign reserve investments are in economically advanced and politically siable coumiries to limit the
exposure to coantry risk,

The Ambority’s end-of-year significant concentrathons of credil exposare by peographical area
{hused an the entity"s coumiry aff ownership) ane 2 fallows,

012 201

MYR MYR
United States of Anesica 4,433, 07L6TR 40920461 186
Maldives 5,004,598, 7209 3,929, %4282
Supranational financial institulions 190 467 B4Y A03, 463,102
Germnany 17,560, 146 17 410,700
Chreat Beritain 2,503,450 25314
Australia 19,160 1375913
Singapore 1 344,297 1,792,100
Total inancial assets (cxcep foreign cash in hand) 9,868, 766,340 9,276,222,698




Maldives Monetary Authornity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A at 31 December 2012

29 RISK MANAGEMENT (Contimwed)
392  Operntional risk

Operational risk & the resuli of inadequate controls or failed processes such as human fraod and
symiens errors and a8 o resuli of exiernal evemia. The Authosiiy has in place o number of operational
cantrols to minimise the financial and reputstional damage agxinst such risks, These include;

|. Begregntion of dutiss which assist in better comted by avoiding posential owtright fraud or
collusion among staff

2. Preparation of manthly reconciliations of sccounts.

3. Maintaining processes relating to data integrity and backup system,

4. Prodecting the physical nssets apainst theft and fire by the sarveillance of security ard flre alarm
EySiEms.

393 Liguidity righ
LEquidity risk is the risk arising fram the inability o sell o financial ssset ot chose 1o its fair valee at
short motice due to insdequate markel depth or market disruptions, To manage liquidity risk the

mjority of foreign reserves are invested in ovemnighl repurchase agreements of the Federal Resenve
Bank of Mew York.

@4 Market risk

Market rik is the risk thal the fuir valwe or future cash (lows of a financial ingtrument will Mluciuase
because of chamges in market prices and inclodes currency and imleres! rake risks.

I. Currency risk is the risk of boss on foreign assels and liahilities arising fram changes in foreign
exchange mies.
2. Ingerest rate risk i5 the risk of loss arising fram changes in market inerest rates.

Bdarket risks sre mitigmed through investing the majority of foreign reserves im0 US Dodlar
denominnied mssets, in highly sccredited financial institutions.

M5 Interest rate risk
Imierest rate risk is the mek of loss arsing from the changes in market interest raics
u} Interest rate semsitivily
The mberest rate sensitivily analysis meazsures the poteniial loss due 1o & drop in interest rate by 10

basas points for inlerest bearing assets and increase in interest by 10 basis poisis for imierest bearing
liabilivies. Impact 1o the Inconse stasement is given below,

2 2011
MVE MVE
Potential bogs of interest income 4,633 945 5,120,874

The: figare was ermonecusly caloulated for 200 1, hemce the corredt figure for 2011 has baen Al i
this years' Financial Sistements.

* B ErmisT & YOUNG
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Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Az al 31 Decermber 2012

40 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION DMSCLOSURES

4.1 Transactiens with staie amd sinic conirolled endities

a} In the normal course of Bs opermtions, the Authority enters into iransaciions with relaed peeties. Relmed
pariies incliede the Republic of Maldives (St ns the uhimme owmer of ithe Awhority), vanicss
gevernmenl departmenis and sinle paned eniities. Pamiculars of tmnsaciions, e armangemenis enered
inio by the Auibarity with the State and State controlled entities are as folbows

Profit re-appropristion 1o the Govemment (Mobe 34)
Susplus payahle 1o govermment

Temporary sdvances made 1o the Governmen) (Moteh)
rcess (oreign exchange transseisons during the yvear

= Sales

= Parchases

012 FLN

MYE MYE
105,310,125 152,578,640

STE93.055 67934 240
131,391,576 161331 250

4 506,831 495 224251 M8
5,903,955,185 J2T 245427

b} Under seticle 22 (k) of MMA Aci the Authonity may make shori term boans to the government io finance
the budges expenditure, As such the Minisiry of Finance and Treasury and the Authority emered into s

Apgency Agreerment an M) September 20089,

€) Through the aperations the Aulborily eams inberest, charpes and commission from the services provided 1o
the governmment and other govermmenial entities, which ane included &3 pan of the income slalement and

this paid out 88 dividend to the govemement.

Imierest income eamed from related parties

Luans receaved From Minzsiry of Fissamce and Treasury
Finance charges pasd

Chiarges and commissions eamed from related partics
Ginoss vadue of poods and serveoes obilained

i | ] I 001

MYVR MVR
30EOTE 624 2084TEMS
1E 461676 34,278 041
373,050 A RA0
10,054,525 1,700,550
7,681,281 5,965,379

dj The sggregnic balmnces oulsianding on deposits and amounis due from governmeni and governmental

emitifies, o5 ol 3] December are given below.

Advamces o Government 65 @ 11 December (Mo B)
Imvesiment im Government bonds (Mot % and 103}
Investment in Governnwent Treasary bills (Mote 11)

Government deposits with the Authonty
Staie Owmed Enterprises deposis with the Auiharity
Sescurity depaosits held by insurnnee companies (Mote 24)

1] 3 1

MWVR MVR
331,391,576 26,440 244
3,852,069, 445 3,854,341 300
179,603, 355 .

5003064377 — 3.920,682.446_

140, 36eh, 64 5 260,182 168

44,312 50,695 051
4,000,000 4,000,000

145,01 1,158 331977319




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at 31 December 2012

40

0.1

41

RELATED FARTIES TRANSACTION DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Transacibons wilh slale and state controlled entities (Contlmued)

€) The Authority performs the fanctions of Enplementing @8 monelary policy mainly through open markel
aperations and enforcing Stabsiory Reserve Requirement under article 31 of MMA Acl Further, the
Autbarity adt as the banker f0 both commercial banks and povemnment insitubions Governmens of
Maldives as a related party has a significant shareholding in Bank of Maldives Ple. Please refer Moie 15 for
the gross oulstonding balances as ot 31 December.

1 Empowered by the anicle 4(c) of the MMA Act, the Financial Secior Division of the Authority caevies cul
the regulniory amd sapervisory functions of ke banks licensed by the Authority, The Bank of Maldives Pl
which had heen finded by the povernment and having a significant infleence, falls under the supervision
ol this divisson,

g} The Mon-bank Financial [nstiutions Supervisson Section of the Authority carries oul its regulatory and
supervisory fusctions in respect of Mos-baaking Financial lastitutsons. Accordingly, the following relaied
entities are under the supervision of the Autharity (Mote 24).

Allwed Ingurance Company of the Maldrves
Housing Development Finasce Comporation Ple

h} As per article 240 of M23AA Act, the Autharity i5 vested with the function of pablic delt managemesi.
Accordingly, as the agent of the povernment, the Public Debt Section (POS) of the Aulbarity Essues
egeuntics o the domesiic market 1o meel the budgetary requirements and to ensizre that financing nesds of
the govermment ad its payrbent obligalions are met

i} The Authority, in carrying can the parmal operations, enler inlo ranscsons 1o oblain various goods and
services with govesmament entities or entities in which povemment his significant influence or contral (Mole
4.1 (el

1) The Autbarity did not provide any guarantes over any of the bormowings of o retated parties during the year
ending 31 Decenber 2012

Transactions with leey mansperial personmel {present and former)

Eey Managerinl Personsed of the Awthonity are the members of the Board thal ineludes Governor, Dheputy
Clovernor {The Awthoniy restricts such members” positions &s direcior, officer, employes or sharsholder of
any banking institutsan. | and other members of the Board, Particulars of transactions with key managerial
puersorme] wene as Tidlows:

0z 2011
MVE MVER
Comperaaiion to the kiy management personmnel 2,880,382 2 BH.216

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Investment in fixed deposits

The carrying values of deposits ane considened 1o appraximate their fir value a5 they are payable on
demand.

51




Maldives Monetary Authority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As a1 31 December 2012

41 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

411

423

42.4

Guarantecs

Under Section 22 (1) the Authority has the power to give puarantees for the repayment of
Government loans. Howewer, the Authority has mot provided amy guarantees as af 3|
Drecember 2012, This has been further confirmed by the MOFT.

Fiduciary activities

Under Section 22 of MMA Act, the Authority carries out fiduciary activities such as acting as
custedian of Government funds and functioning as a fiscal agent for the Government in its
dealings with Imternational Financial [nstitutions. Motwithstanding, the Authority does not
cupeet o linbilities or commitments to arise from such activities.

Legal clnims
There are no ongolng legal procesdings agains the Authority as of 31 December 2012,
Commitmenis

Om request of the Ministry of Finance and Tressury with reference 1o the loan agresments
signed between the Government of the Republic of Maldives and the Islamic Development
Bank, the Authority underakes to provide the foreign exchange required to repay the loans
inclusive of service fees at such times as repayment instalments and service fees fall due, In
congideration the Ministry of Finance and Treasury an bekall of the Government of the
Republic of Maldives has counter guaranteed o pay the Authority the equivalent Rufivaa for
the aforesald payments,

EVENTS OCCURRING SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

There have been no material events occarring after the reporting date that requine
adjustments to or discloswre in the financial statemenis.

7]
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